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CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX TO APPELLANTS’ APPENDIX 

NO. DOCUMENT DATE VOL. PAGE NO.  

1. Complaint 08/08/14 1 1-20  
 
 Exhibit 1:  Lease Agreement  1 21-56 
 (November 18, 2005) 
 
 Exhibit 2:  Herbst Offer Letter  1 57-72 
 
 Exhibit 3:  Herbst Guaranty  1 73-78 
 
 Exhibit 4:  Lease Agreement  1 79-84 
 (Dec. 2005) 
 
 Exhibit 5:  Interim Operating  1 85-87 
 Agreement (March 2007) 
 
 Exhibit 6:  Lease Agreement  1 88-116 
 (Dec. 2, 2005) 
 
 Exhibit 7:  Lease Agreement  1 117-152 
 (June 6, 2006) 
 
 Exhibit 8:  Herbst Guaranty  1 153-158 
 (March 2007) Hwy 50 
 
 Exhibit 9:  Herbst Guaranty  1 159-164 
 (March 12, 2007) 
 
 Exhibit 10:  First Amendment to   1 165-172 
 Lease Agreement (Mar. 12, 2007) 
 (Hwy 50) 
 
 Exhibit 11:  First Amendment to   1 173-180 
 Lease Agreement (Mar. 12, 2007) 
 
 Exhibit 12:  Gordon Silver Letter  1 181-184 
 dated March 18, 2013 
 
 Exhibit 13:  Gordon Silver Letter  1 185-187 
 dated March 28, 2013 
 
2. Acceptance of Service 09/05/14 1 188-189 
 
3. Answer to Complaint 10/06/14 1 190-201 
 
4. Motion to Associate Counsel 10/28/14 1 202-206 
 - Brian P. Moquin, Esq. 
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(cont 4) Exhibit 1:  Verified Application  1 207-214 
 for Association of Counsel Under 
 Nevada Supreme Court Rule 42 
 
 Exhibit 2:  The State Bar of  1 215-216 
 California’s Certificate of Standing 
 
 Exhibit 3:  State Bar of Nevada  1 217-219 
 Statement Pursuant to Supreme 
 Court Rule 42(3)(b) 
 
5. Pretrial Order 11/10/14 1 220-229 
 
6. Order Admitting Brain P. Moquin 11/13/14 1 230-231 
 Esq. to Practice 
 
7. Verified First Amended Complaint 01/21/15 2 232-249 
 
8. Answer to Amended Complaint 02/02/15 2 250-259 
 
9. Amended Answer to Amended 04/21/15 2 260-273 
 Complaint and Counterclaim 
 
10. Errata to Amended Answer to 04/23/15 2 274-277 
 Amended Complaint and 
 Counterclaim 
 
 Exhibit 1:  Defendants’ Amended  2 278-293 
 Answer to Plaintiffs’ Amended 
 Complaint and Counterclaim 
 
  Exhibit 1:  Operation Agreement  2 294-298 
 
11. Plaintiffs Larry J. Willard 05/27/15 2 299-307 
 and Overland Development 
 Corporation’s Answer to  
 Defendants’ Counterclaim 
 
12. Motion for Contempt Pursuant to 07/24/15 2 308-316 
 NRCP 45(e) and Motion for 
 Sanctions Against Plaintiffs’ Counsel 
 Pursuant to NRCP 37 
 
 Exhibit 1:  Declaration of Brian R. Irvine 2 317-320 
 
 Exhibit 2:  Subpoena Duces Tecum  2 321-337 
 to Dan Gluhaich 
 
 Exhibit 3:  June 11, 2015, Email   2 338-340 
 Exchange 
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(cont 12) Exhibit 4:  June 29, 2015, Email   2 341-364 
 Attaching the Subpoena, a form for 
 acceptance of service, and a cover 
 letter listing the deadlines to respond 
 
 Exhibit 5:  June 29, 2015, Email  2 365-370 
 Exchange 
 
 Exhibit 6:  July 17, 2015, Email  2 371-375 
 Exchange 
 
 Exhibit 7:  July 20 and July 21, 2015  2 376-378 
 Email 
 
 Exhibit 8:  July 23, 2015, Email  2 379-380 
 
 Exhibit 9:  June 23, 2015, Email  2 381-382 
 
13. Stipulation and Order to Continue 09/03/15 2 383-388 
 Trial (First Request) 
 
14. Stipulation and Order to Continue 05/02/16 2 389-395 
 Trial (Second Request) 
 
15. Defendants/Counterclaimants’  08/01/16 2 396-422 
 Motion for Partial Summary  
 Judgment 
 
 Exhibit 1:  Affidavit of Tim Herbst  2 423-427 
 
 Exhibit 2:  Willard Lease  2 428-463 
 
 Exhibit 3:  Willard Guaranty  2 464-468 
 
 Exhibit 4:  Docket Sheet, Superior  3 469-480 
 Court of Santa Clara, Case No. 
 2013-CV-245021 
 
 Exhibit 5:  Second Amended Motion  3 481-498 
 to Dismiss 
 
 Exhibit 6:  Deposition Excerpts of  3 499-509 
 Larry Willard 
 
 Exhibit 7:  2014 Federal Tax Return for 3 510-521 
 Overland 
  
 Exhibit 8:  2014 Willard Federal Tax  3 522-547 
 Return – Redacted 
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(cont 15) Exhibit 9:  Seller’s Final Closing  3 549 
 Statement 
 
 Exhibit 10:  Highway 50 Lease  3 550-593 
 
 Exhibit 11:  Highway 50 Guaranty  3 594-598 
 
 Exhibit 12:  Willard Responses to   3 599-610 
 Defendants’ First Set of Interrogatories 
 
 Exhibit 13:  Baring Purchase and Sale  3 611-633 
 Agreement 
 
 Exhibit 14:  Baring Lease  3 634-669 
 
 Exhibit 15:  Baring Property Loan  3 670-705 
 
 Exhibit 16:  Deposition Excerpts of  3 706-719 
 Edward Wooley 
 
 Exhibit 17:  Assignment of Baring  4 720-727 
 Lease  
 
 Exhibit 18:  HUD Statement  4 728-730 
 
 Exhibit 19:  November 2014 Email  4 731-740 
 Exchange 
 
 Exhibit 20:  January 2015 Email  4 741-746 
 Exchange 
 
 Exhibit 21:  IRS Publication 4681  4 747-763 
 
 Exhibit 22:  Second Amendment  4 764-766 
 to Baring Lease 
  
 Exhibit 23:  Wooley Responses to  4 767-774 
 Second Set of Interrogatories 
 
 Exhibit 24:  2013 Overland Federal  4 775-789 
 Income Tax Return 
 
 Exhibit 25:  Declaration of Brian  4 790-794 
 Irvine  
 
16. Affidavit of Brian P. Moquin 08/30/16 4 795-797 
 
17. Affidavit of Edward C. Wooley 08/30/16 4 798-803 
 
18. Affidavit of Larry J. Willard 08/30/16 4 804-812 
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19. Plaintiffs’ Opposition to 08/30/16 4 813-843 
 Defendants’ Motion for Partial 
 Summary Judgment 
 
 Exhibit 1:  Purchase and Sale  4 844-857 
 Agreement dated July 1, 2005 for 
 Purchase of the Highway 50 Property 
 
 Exhibit 2:  Lease Agreement dated  4 858-901 
 December 2, 2005 for the Highway 50 
 Property 
 
 Exhibit 3:  Three Year Adjustment  4 902-906 
 Term Note dated January 19, 2007 in 
 the amount of $2,200,00.00 for the 
 Highway 50 Property 
 
 Exhibit 4:  Deed of Trust, Fixture  4 907-924 
 Filing and Security Agreement dated 
 January 30, 2017, Inst. No. 363893, 
 For the Highway 50 Property  
 
 Exhibit 5:  Letter and Attachments  4 925-940 
 from Sujata Yalamanchili, Esq. to 
 Landlords dated February 17, 2007 
 re Herbst Acquisition of BHI 
 
 Exhibit 6:  First Amendment to   4 941-948 
 Lease Agreement dated March 12, 2007 
 for the Highway 50 Property 
 
 Exhibit 7:  Guaranty Agreement  4 949-953 
 dated March 12, 2007 for the Highway 
 50 Property 
 
 Exhibit 8:  Second Amendment to Lease 4 954-956 
 dated June 29, 2011 for the Highway 
 50 Property 
 
 Exhibit 9:  Purchase and Sale Agreement 5 957-979 
 Dated July 14, 2006 for the Baring 
 Property 
 
 Exhibit 10:  Lease Agreement dated  5 980-1015 
 June 6, 2006 for the Baring Property 
 
 Exhibit 11:  Five Year Adjustable Term 5 1016-1034 
 Note dated July 18, 2006 in the amount 
 of $2,100,00.00 for the Baring  
 Property 
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(cont 19) Exhibit 12:  Deed of Trust, Fixture   5 1035-1052 
 Filing and Security Agreement dated 
 July 21, 2006, Doc. No. 3415811, 
 for the Highway 50 Property 
 
 Exhibit 13:  First Amendment to Lease  5 1053-1060 
 Agreement dated March 12, 2007 for 
 the Baring Property 
 
 Exhibit 14:  Guaranty Agreement  5 1061-1065 
 dated March 12, 2007 for the  
 Baring Property 
 
 Exhibit 15:  Assignment of Entitlements, 5 1066-1077 
 Contracts, Rent and Revenues (1365 
 Baring) dated July 5, 2007, Inst. No. 
 3551275, for the Baring Property  
 
 Exhibit 16:  Assignment and  5 1078-1085 
 Assumption of Lease dated 
 December 29, 2009 between BHI 
 and Jacksons Food Stores, Inc. 
 
 Exhibit 17:  Substitution of  5 1086-1090 
 Attorney forms for the Wooley 
 Plaintiffs’ file March 6 and  
 March 13, 2014 in the California 
 Case 
 
 Exhibit 18:  Joint Stipulation to  5 1091-1094 
 Take Pending Hearings Off 
 Calendar and to Withdraw 
 Written Discovery Requests 
 Propounded by Plaintiffs filed 
 March 13, 2014 in the California 
 Case 
 
 Exhibit 19:  Email thread dated  5 1095-1099 
 March 14, 2014 between Cindy 
 Grinstead and Brian Moquin re 
 Joint Stipulation in California 
 Case 
 
 Exhibit 20:  Civil Minute Order  5 1100-1106 
 on Motion to Dismiss in the California 
 case dated March 18, 2014 faxed to  
 Brian Moquin by the Superior Court 
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(cont 19) Exhibit 21:  Request for Dismissal  5 1107-1108 
 without prejudice filed May 19, 2014 
 in the California case 
 
 Exhibit 22:  Notice of Breach and   5 1109-1117 
 Default and Election to Cause 
 Sale of Real Property Under Deed 
 of Trust dated March 21, 2014, 
 Inst. No. 443186, regarding the  
 Highway 50 Property 
 
 Exhibit 23:  Email message dated  5 1118-1119 
 February 5, 2014 from Terrilyn  
 Baron of Union Bank to Edward 
 Wooley regarding cross-collateralization 
 of the Baring and Highway 50 
 Properties 
 
 Exhibit 24:  Settlement Statement  5 1120-1122 
 (HUD-1) dated May 20, 2014 for 
 sale of the Baring Property 
 
 Exhibit 25: 2014 Federal Tax  5 1123-1158 
 Return for Edward C. and Judith A. 
 Wooley 
 
 Exhibit 26:  2014 State Tax Balance  5 1159-1161 
 Due Notice for Edward C. and  
 Judith A. Wooley 
 
 Exhibit 27:  Purchase and Sale   5 1162-1174 
 Agreement dated November 18, 2005 
 for the Virginia Property 
 
 Exhibit 28:  Lease Agreement dated  6 1175-1210 
 November 18, 2005 for the Virginia 
 Property 
 
 Exhibit 29:  Buyer’s and Seller’s   6 1211-1213 
 Final Settlement Statements dated 
 February 24, 2006 for the Virginia 
 Property 
 
 Exhibit 30:  Deed of Trust, Fixture  6 1214-1231 
 Filing and Security Agreement dated 
 February 21, 2006 re the Virginia 
 Property securing loan for 
 $13,312,500.00 
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(cont 19) Exhibit 31:  Promissory Note dated  6 1232-1236 
 February 28, 2006 for $13,312,500.00 
 by Willard Plaintiffs’ in favor of 
 Telesis Community Credit Union 
 
 Exhibit 32:  Subordination, Attornment  6 1237-1251 
 And Nondisturbance Agreement dated 
 February 21, 2006 between Willard 
 Plaintiffs, BHI, and South Valley 
 National Bank, Inst. No. 3353293, 
 re the Virginia Property 
 
 Exhibit 33:  Deed of Trust, Assignment  6 1252-1277 
 of Rents, and Security Agreement 
 dated March 16, 2006 re the Virginia 
 Property securing loan for 
 $13,312,500.00 
 
 Exhibit 34:  Payment Coupon dated  6 1278-1279 
 March 1, 2013 from Business 
 Partners to Overland re Virginia 
 Property mortgage 
 
 Exhibit 35:  Substitution of Trustee  6 1280-1281 
 and Full Reconveyance dated 
 April 18, 2006 naming Pacific  
 Capital Bank, N.A. as trustee on 
 the Virginia Property Deed of  
 Trust 
 
 Exhibit 36:  Amendment to Lease  6 1282-1287 
 Agreement dated March 9, 2007 
 for the Virginia Property 
 
 Exhibit 37:  Guaranty Agreement  6 1288-1292 
 dated March 9, 2007 for the Virginia 
 Property 
 
 Exhibit 38:  Letter dated March 12,  6 1293-1297 
 2013 from L. Steven Goldblatt, Esq. 
 to Jerry Herbst re breach of the  
 Virginia Property lease 
 
 Exhibit 39:  Letter dated March 18,  6 1298-1300 
 2013 from Gerald M. Gordon, Esq. 
 to L. Steven Goldblatt, Esq. re  
 breach of the Virginia Property 
 lease 
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(cont 19) Exhibit 40:  Letter dated April 12,  6 1301-1303 
 2013 from Gerald M. Gordon, Esq. 
 to L. Steven Goldblatt, Esq. re  
 breach of the Virginia Property 
 lease 
 
 Exhibit 41:  Operation and   6 1304-1308 
 Management Agreement dated 
 May 1, 2013 between BHI and  
 the Willard Plaintiffs re the  
 Virginia Property 
 
 Exhibit 42:  Notice of Intent  6 1309-1311 
 to Foreclose dated June 14, 2013 
 from Business Partners to 
 Overland re default on loan for 
 the Virginia Property 
 
 Exhibit 43:  Notice of Chapter 11  6 1312-1315 
 Bankruptcy Case, Meeting of 
 Creditors, & Deadlines dated 
 June 18, 2013 
 
 Exhibit 44:  Declaration in  6 1316-1320 
 Support of Motion to Dismiss 
 Case filed by Larry James Willard 
 on August 9, 2013, Northern  
 District of California Bankruptcy 
 Court Case No. 13-53293 CN 
 
 Exhibit 45:  Substitution of   6 1321-1325 
 Attorney forms from the Willard 
 Plaintiffs filed March 6, 2014 in 
 the California case 
 
 Exhibit 46:  Declaration of Arm’s  6 1326-1333 
 Length Transaction dated January 
 14, 2014 between Larry James 
 Willard and Longley Partners, LLC 
 re sale of the Virginia Property 
 
 Exhibit 47:  Purchase and Sale   6 1334-1340 
 Agreement dated February 14, 2014 
 between Longley Partners, LLC 
 and Larry James Willard re  
 purchase of the Virginia Property 
 for $4,000,000.00 
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(cont 19) Exhibit 48:  Short Sale Agreement  6 1341-1360 
 dated February 19, 2014 between 
 the National Credit Union 
 Administration Board and the 
 Willard Plaintiffs re short sale of 
 the Virginia Property 
 
 Exhibit 49:  Consent to Act dated  6 1361-1362 
 February 25, 2014 between the  
 Willard Plaintiffs and Daniel 
 Gluhaich re representation for  
 short sale of the Virginia Property 
 
 Exhibit 50:  Seller’s Final  6 1363-1364 
 Closing Statement dated 
 March 3, 2014 re the Virginia 
 Property 
 
 Exhibit 51:  IRS Form 1099-C  6 1365-1366 
 issued by the National Credit 
 Union Administration Board to 
 Overland evidencing discharge 
 of $8,597,250.20 in debt and 
 assessing the fair market value 
 of the Virginia Property at 
 $3,000,000.00 
 
20. Defendants’ Reply Brief in 09/16/16 6 1367-1386 
 Support of Motion for Partial 
 Summary Judgment 
 
 Exhibit 1:  Declaration of John  6 1387-1390 
 P. Desmond  
 
21. Supplement to Defendants /  12/20/16 6 1391-1396 
 Counterclaimants’ Motion for 
 Partial Summary Judgment 
 
 Exhibit 1:  Expert Report of  7 1397-1430 
 Michelle Salazar 
 
22. Plaintiffs’ Objections to Defendants’ 01/30/17 7 1431-1449 
 Proposed Order Granting Partial 
 Summary Judgment in Favor of 
 Defendants  
 
23. Defendants/Counterclaimants’ 02/02/17 7 1450-1457 
 Response to Plaintiffs’ Proposed 
 Order Granting Partial Summary 
 Judgment in Favor of Defendants 
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(cont 23) Exhibit 1:  January 19-25, 2017  7 1458-1460 
 Email Exchange 
 
 Exhibit 2:  January 25, 2017, Email  7 1461-1485 
 from M. Reel 
 
24. Stipulation and Order to Continue 02/09/17 7 1486-1494 
 Trial (Third Request) 
 
25. Order Granting Partial Summary 05/30/17 7 1495-1518 
 Judgment in Favor of Defendants 
 
26. Notice of Entry of Order re Order 05/31/17 7 1519-1522 
 Granting Partial Summary 
 Judgment 
 
 Exhibit 1:  May 30, 2017 Order  7 1523-1547 
 
27. Affidavit of Brian P. Moquin 10/18/17 7 1548-1555 
 re Willard 
 
28. Affidavit of Daniel Gluhaich 10/18/17 7 1556-1563 
 re Willard 
 
29. Affidavit of Larry Willard 10/18/17 7 1564-1580 
 
30. Motion for Summary Judgment 10/18/17 7 1581-1621 
 of Plaintiffs Larry J. Willard and 
 Overland Development Corporation 
 
 Exhibit 1:  Purchase and Sale   7 1622-1632 
 Agreement dated November 18, 2005 
 for the Virginia Property 
 
 Exhibit 2:  Lease Agreement dated  8 1633-1668 
 November 18, 2005 for the Virginia 
 Property 
 
 Exhibit 3:  Subordination, Attornment  8 1669-1683 
 and Nondisturbance Agreement dated 
 February 21, 2006 between Willard 
 Plaintiffs, BHI, and South Valley 
 National Bank, Inst. No. 3353293,  
 re the Virginia Property 
 
 Exhibit 4:  Letter and Attachments  8 1684-1688 
 from Sujata Yalamanchili, Esq. to 
 Landlords dated February 17, 2007 
 re Herbst Acquisition of BHI 
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(cont 30) Exhibit 5:  Landlord’s Estoppel  8 1689-1690 
 Certificate regarding the Virginia 
 Lease dated on or about March 
 8, 2007 
 
 Exhibit 6:  Amendment to Lease  8 1691-1696 
 Agreement dated March 9, 2007 
 for the Virginia Property 
 
 Exhibit 7:  Guaranty Agreement  8 1697-1701 
 dated March 9, 2007 for the  
 Virginia Property 
 
 Exhibit 8:  Berry-Hinckley  8 1702-1755 
 Industries Financial Analysis 
 on the Virginia Property dated 
 May 2008 
 
 Exhibit 9:  Appraisal of the Virginia  8 1756-1869 
 Property by CB Richard Ellis dated 
 October 1, 2008 
 
 Exhibit 10:  Letter dated March 12,  9 1870-1874 
 2013 from L. Steven Goldblatt, Esq. 
 to Jerry Herbst re breach of the 
 Virginia Lease 
 
 Exhibit 11:  Letter dated March 18,  9 1875-1877 
 2013 from Gerald M. Gordon, Esq. 
 to L. Steven Goldblatt, Esq. re  
 breach of the Virginia Property 
 Lease 
 
 Exhibit 12:  Letter dated April 12,  9 1878-1880 
 2013 from Gerald M. Gordon, Esq. 
 to L. Steven Goldblatt, Esq. re  
 breach of the Virginia Property 
 lease 
 
 Exhibit 13:  Operation and  9 1881-1885 
 Management Agreement dated 
 May 1, 2013 between BHI and 
 the Willard Plaintiffs re the  
 Virginia Property 
 
 Exhibit 14:  Invoice from Gregory  9 1886-1887 
 M. Breen dated May 31, 2013 
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(cont 30) Exhibit 15:  Photographs of the   9 1888-1908 
 Virginia Property taken by Larry 
 J. Willard on May 26-27, 2013 
 
 Exhibit 16:  Photographs of the   9 1909-1914 
 Virginia Property in 2012 retrieved 
 from Google Historical Street View 
 
 Exhibit 17:  Invoice from Tholl  9 1915-1916 
 Fence dated July 31, 2013 
 
 Exhibit 18:  Notice of Chapter 11  9 1917-1920 
 Bankruptcy Case, Meeting of 
 Creditors, & Deadlines filed  
 June 18, 2018 in case In re Larry 
 James Willard, Northern District 
 of California Bankruptcy Case 
 No. 13-53293 CN 
 
 Exhibit 19:  Motion by the   9 1921-1938 
 National Credit Union Administration 
 Board, Acting in its Capacity as 
 Liquidating Agent for Telesis  
 Community Credit Union, for 
 Order Terminating Automatic Stay 
 or, Alternatively, Requiring  
 Adequate Protection and related 
 declarations and declarations and 
 exhibits thereto filed July 18, 2013 
 in case In re Larry James Willard, 
 Northern District of California 
 Bankruptcy Case No. 13-53293 CN 
 
 Exhibit 20:  Order for Relief from  9 1939-1943 
 Stay filed August 8, 2013 in case 
 In re Larry James Willard, Northern 
 District of California Bankruptcy 
 Case No. 13-53293 CN 
 
 Exhibit 21:  Motion to Dismiss Case  9 1944-1953 
 and related declarations filed August 
 9, 2013 in case In re Larry James 
 Willard, Northern District of 
 California Bankruptcy Case No. 
 13-53293 CN 
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(cont 30) Exhibit 22:  Proof of Claim and   9 1954-1966 
 exhibits thereto filed August 27, 
 2013 in case In re Larry James 
 Willard, Northern District of 
 California Bankruptcy Case No. 
 13-53293 CN 
 
 Exhibit 23:   Objection to Claim  9 1967-1969 
 filed September 5, 2013 by 
 Stanley A. Zlotoff in case In re 
 Larry James Willard, Northern 
 District of California Bankruptcy 
 Case No. 13-53293 CN 
 
 Exhibit 24:  Original Preliminary  9 1970-1986 
 Report dated August 12, 2013 
 from Stewart Title Company re 
 the Virginia Property 
 
 Exhibit 25:  Updated Preliminary  9 1987-2001 
 Report dated January 13, 2014 
 from Stewart Title Company re 
 the Virginia Property 
 
 Exhibit 26:  Berry-Hinckley  9 2002-2006 
 Industries Financial Statement 
 on the Virginia Property for the 
 Twelve Months Ending December 
 31, 2012 
 
 Exhibit 27:  Bill Detail from the   9 2007-2008 
 Washoe County Treasurer website 
 re 2012 property taxes on the  
 Virginia Property 
 
 Exhibit 28:  Bill Detail from the   9 2009-2010 
 Washoe County Treasurer website 
 re 2013 property taxes on the  
 Virginia Property 
 
 Exhibit 29:  Order of Case Dismissal  9 2011-2016 
 filed September 30, 2013 in case 
 In re Larry James Willard, Northern 
 District of California Bankruptcy 
 Case No. 13-53293 CN 
 
 Exhibit 30:  Invoice from Santiago  9 2017-2018 
 Landscape & Maintenance dated 
 October 24, 2013 
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(cont 30) Exhibit 31:  Appraisal of the   9 2019-2089 
 Virginia Property by David A. 
 Stefan dated February 10, 2014 
 
 Exhibit 32:  Seller’s Final   9 2090-2091 
 Closing Statement dated March 
 6, 2014 re short sale of the  
 Virginia Property from the  
 Willard Plaintiffs to Longley 
 Partners, LLC 
 
 Exhibit 33:  Invoices from NV  9 2092-2109 
 Energy for the Virginia Property 
 
 Exhibit 34:  Invoices and related  9 2110-2115 
 insurance policy documents from 
 Berkshire Hathaway Insurance 
 Company re the Virginia Property 
 
 Exhibit 35:  Notice of Violation  10 2116-2152 
 from the City of Reno re the  
 Virginia Property and correspondence 
 related thereto 
 
 Exhibit 36:  Willard Plaintiffs  10 2153-2159 
 Computation of Damages spreadsheet 
 
 Exhibit 37:  E-mail message from  10 2160-2162 
 Richard Miller to Dan Gluhaich 
 dated August 6, 2013 re Virginia 
 Property Car Wash 
 
 Exhibit 38:  E-mail from Rob  10 2163-2167 
 Cashell to Dan Gluhaich dated 
 February 28, 2014 with attached 
 Proposed and Contract from  
 L.A. Perks dated February 11,  
 2014 re repairing the Virginia  
 Property 
 
 Exhibit 39:  Deed by and between  10 2168-2181 
 Longley Center Partnership and 
 Longley Center Partners, LLC 
 dated January 1, 2004 regarding 
 the Virginia Property, recorded 
 April 1, 2004 in the Washoe County 
 Recorder’s Office as Doc. No. 
 3016371 
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(cont 30) Exhibit 40:  Grant, Bargain  10 2182-2187 
 and Sale Deed by and between 
 Longley Center Partners, LLC 
 and P.A. Morabito & Co.,  
 Limited dated October 4, 2005 
 regarding the Virginia Property, 
 recorded October 13, 2005 in the  
 Washoe County Recorder’s 
 Office as Doc. No. 3291753 
 
 Exhibit 41:  Grant, Bargain and  10 2188-2193 
 Sale Deed by and between P.A. 
 Morabito & Co., Limited and 
 Land Venture Partners, LLC 
 dated September 30, 2005  
 regarding the Virginia Property,  
 recorded October 13, 2005 in  
 the Washoe County Recorder’s 
 Office as Doc. No. 3291760 
 
 Exhibit 42:  Memorandum of   10 2194-2198 
 Lease dated September 30, 2005 
 by Berry-Hinckley Industries 
 regarding the Virginia Property,  
 recorded October 13, 2005 in 
 the Washoe County Recorder’s 
 Office as Doc. No. 3291761 
 
 Exhibit 43:  Subordination,  10 2199-2209 
 Non-Disturbance and Attornment 
 Agreement and Estoppel Certificate 
 by and between Land Venture 
 Partners, LLC, Berry-Hinckley 
 Industries, and M&I Marshall & 
 Isley Bank dated October 3, 2005 
 regarding the Virginia Property, 
 recorded October 13, 2005 in the 
 Washoe County Recorder’s  
 Office as Doc No. 3291766 
 
 Exhibit 44:  Memorandum of  10 2210-2213 
 Lease with Options to Extend 
 dated December 1, 2005 by 
 Winner’s Gaming, Inc. regarding 
 the Virginia Property, recorded 
 December 14, 2005 in the Washoe 
 County Recorder’s Office as  
 Doc. No. 3323645 
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(cont 30) Exhibit 45:  Lease Termination  10 2214-2218 
 Agreement dated January 25, 2006 
 by Land Venture Partners, LLC 
 and Berry-Hinckley Industries 
 regarding the Virginia Property,  
 recorded February 24, 2006 in the 
 Washoe Country Recorder’s  
 Office as Doc. No. 3353288 
 
 Exhibit 46:  Grant, Bargain and  10 2219-2224 
 Sale Deed by and between Land 
 Venture Partners, LLC and P.A. 
 Morabito & Co., Limited dated 
 February 23, 2006 regarding the  
 Virginia Property, recorded 
 February 24, 2006 in the Washoe 
 County Recorder’s Office as  
 Doc. No. 3353289 
 
 Exhibit 47:  Grant, Bargain and  10 2225-2230 
 Sale Deed by and between P.A. 
 Morabito & Co., Limited and  
 the Willard Plaintiffs dated  
 January 20, 2006 regarding the  
 Virginia Property, recorded 
 February 24, 2006 in the Washoe 
 County Recorder’s Office as Doc. 
 No. 3353290 
 
 Exhibit 48:  Deed of Trust, Fixture  10 2231-2248 
 Filing and Security Agreement by 
 and between the Willard Plaintiffs 
 and South Valley National Bank 
 dated February 21, 2006 regarding 
 the Virginia Property, recorded 
 February 24, 2006 in the Washoe 
 County Recorder’s Office as 
 Doc. No. 3353292 
 
 Exhibit 49:  Proposed First  10 2249-2251 
 Amendment to Lease Agreement 
 regarding the Virginia Property 
 sent to the Willard Plaintiffs in 
 October 2006 
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(cont 30) Exhibit 50:  Assignment of  10 2252-2264 
 Entitlements, Contracts, Rents 
 and Revenues by and between 
 Berry-Hinckley Industries and 
 First National Bank of Nevada 
 dated June 29, 2007 regarding 
 the Virginia Property, recorded 
 February 24, 2006 in the Washoe 
 County Recorder’s Office as 
 Doc. No. 3551284 
 
 Exhibit 51:  UCC Financing  10 2265-2272 
 Statement regarding the Virginia 
 Property, recorded July 5, 2007 
 in the Washoe County Recorder’s 
 Office as Doc. No 3551285 
 
 Exhibit 52:  Sales brochure for  10 2273-2283 
 the Virginia Property prepared by 
 Daniel Gluhaich for marketing 
 purposes in 2012 
 
31. Defendants’/Counterclaimants’ 11/13/17 10 2284-2327 
 Opposition to Larry Willard and 
 Overland Development Corporation’s 
 Motion for Summary Judgment – 
 Oral Arguments Requested 
 
 Exhibit 1:  Declaration of Brian R.  10 2328-2334 
 Irvine 
 
 Exhibit 2: December 12, 2014,   10 2335-2342 
 Plaintiffs Initial Disclosures  
 
 Exhibit 3:  February 12, 2015 Letter  10 2343-2345 
 
 Exhibit 4:  Willard July 2015  10 2346-2357 
 Interrogatory Responses, First Set 
  
 Exhibit 5:  August 28, 2015, Letter  11 2358-2369 
 
 Exhibit 6:  March 3, 2016, Letter  11 2370-2458 
 
 Exhibit 7:  March 15, 2016 Letter  11 2459-2550 
 
 Exhibit 8:  April 20, 2016, Letter  11 2551-2577 
 
 Exhibit 9:  December 2, 2016,  11 2578-2586 
 Expert Disclosure of Gluhaich 
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(cont 31) Exhibit 10:  December 5, 2016 Email  11 2587-2593 
 
 Exhibit 11:  December 9, 2016 Email  11 2594-2595 
 
 Exhibit 12:  December 23, 2016  11 2596-2599 
 Email 
 
 Exhibit 13:  December 27, 2016  11 2600-2603 
 Email 
 
 Exhibit 14:  February 3, 2017, Letter   12 2604-2631 
 
 Exhibit 15:  Willard Responses to  12 2632-2641 
 Defendants’ First Set of Requests for 
 Production of Documents 
 
 Exhibit 16:  April 1, 2016 Email  12 2642-2644 
 
 Exhibit 17:  May 3, 2016 Email  12 2645-2646 
 
 Exhibit 18:  June 21, 2016 Email  12 2647-2653 
 Exchange 
 
 Exhibit 19:  July 21, 2016 Email  12 2654-2670 
 
 Exhibit 20:  Defendants’ First  12 2671-2680 
 Set of Interrogatories on Willard 
 
 Exhibit 21:  Defendants’ Second  12 2681-2691 
 Set of Interrogatories on Willard 
 
 Exhibit 22: Defendants’ First  12 2692-2669 
 Requests for Production on  
 Willard 
 
 Exhibit 23:  Defendants’ Second  12 2700-2707 
 Request for Production on  
 Willard 
  
 Exhibit 24:  Defendants’ Third  12 2708-2713 
 Request for Production on 
 Willard 
 
 Exhibit 25: Defendants Requests  12 2714-2719 
 for Admission to Willard 
 
 Exhibit 26:  Willard Lease  12 2720-2755 
 
 Exhibit 27:  Willard Response to  12 2756-2764 
 Second Set of Interrogatories 
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 Exhibit 31:  Declaration of  12 2777-2780 
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 in Limine to Exclude the Expert 
 Testimony of Daniel Gluhaich 
 
 Exhibit 1:  Plaintiffs’ Initial  12 2804-2811 
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 Disclosures of Expert Witnesses 
 
 Exhibit 3:  December 5, 2016 Email  12 2821-2827 
 
 Exhibit 4:  December 9, 2016 Email  12 2828-2829 
 
 Exhibit 5:  December 23, 2016 Email  12 2830-2833 
 
 Exhibit 6:  December 27, 2016 Email  12 2834-2837 
 
 Exhibit 7:  February 3, 2017 Letter  13 2838-2865 
 
 Exhibit 8:  Deposition Excerpts of  13 2866-2875 
 D. Gluhaich 
 
 Exhibit 9:  Declaration of Brain  13 2876-2879 
 Irvine 
 
33. Defendants’ Motion for Partial 11/15/17 13 2880-2896 
 Summary Judgment – Oral 
 Argument Requested 
 
 Exhibit 1:  Highway 50 Lease  13 2897-2940 
 
 Exhibit 2:  Declaration of Chris  13 2941-2943 
 Kemper 
 
 Exhibit 3:  Wooley Deposition at 41  13 2944-2949 
 
 Exhibit 4:  Virginia Lease  13 2950-2985 
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 Argument Requested 
 
 Exhibit 1:  Plaintiffs’ Initial  13 3059-3066 
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 Exchange 
 
 Exhibit 4:  February 12, 2015 Letter  13 3083-3085 
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 Interrogatory Reponses 
 
 Exhibit 6:  Wooley July 2015  14 3098-3107 
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 Exhibit 10:  April 20, 2016 Letter  14 3301-3327 
 
 Exhibit 11:  December 2, 2016  15 3328-3336 
 Expert Disclosure 
 
 Exhibit 12: December 5, 2016 Email  15 3337-3343 
 
 Exhibit 13:  December 9, 2016 Email  15 3344-3345 
 
 Exhibit 14:  December 23, 2016 Email  15 3346-3349 
 
 Exhibit 15:  December 27, 2016 Email  15 3350-3353 
 
 Exhibit 16:  February 3, 2017 Letter  15 3354-3381 
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 Exhibit 21:  May 3, 2016 Email  15 3445-3446 
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 Exhibit 22:  June 21, 2016 Email  15 3447-3453 
 Exchange 
 
 Exhibit 23:  July 21, 2016 Letter  15 3454-3471 
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 Exhibit 25:  Defendants’ Second  15 3481-3490 
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 Request for Production of  
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 Request for Production of 
 Documents on Willard 
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 Motions and to Extend the Deadline 
 for Submissions of Dispositive 
 Motions 
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37. Notice of Non-Opposition to 12/07/17 16 3577-3580 
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45. Notice of Entry of Findings of 03/06/18 16 3641-3644 
 Facts, Conclusions of Law and 
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46. Request for Entry of Judgment 03/09/18 16 3645-3649 
 
 Exhibit 1:  Judgment  16 3650-3653 
 
47. Notice of Withdrawal of Local 03/15/18 16 3654-3656 
 Counsel 
 
48. Notice of Appearance – Richard 03/26/18 16 3657-3659 
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50. Reply in Support of Request for 03/27/18 16 3666-3671 
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51. Order Granting Defendant/ 04/13/18 16 3672-3674 
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52. Willard Plaintiffs’ Rule 60(b)  04/18/18 16 3675-3692 
 Motion for Relief 
 
 Exhibit 1:  Declaration of Larry J.  16 3693-3702 
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 Exhibit 2:  Lease Agreement dated  16 3703-3738 
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 Exhibit 3:  Letter dated 4/12/13 from  16 3739-3741 
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 Exhibit 7:  Pre-Booking Information  16 3753-3755 
 Sheet dated 1/23/18 
 
 Exhibit 8:  Request for Domestic  16 3756-3769 
 Violence Restraining Order, filed 
 1/31/18 
 
 Exhibit 9:  Motion for Summary   16 3770-3798 
 Judgment of Plaintiffs Larry J. 
 Willard and Overland Development 
 Corporation, filed October 18, 2017 
 
53. Opposition to Rule 60(b) Motion 05/18/18 17 3799-3819 
 for Relief 
 
 Exhibit 1:  Declaration of Brain R.  17 3820-3823 
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 Exhibit 2:  Transfer of Hearing,  17 3824-3893 
 January 10, 2017 
 
 Exhibit 3:  Transfer of Hearing,  17 3894-3922 
 December 12, 2017 
 
 Exhibit 4:  Excerpt of deposition   17 3923-3924 
 transcript of Larry Willard, 
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 Exhibit 5:  Attorney status according  17 3925-3933 
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 Exhibit 6:  Plaintiff’s Initial  17 3934-3941 
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54. Reply in Support of the Willard 05/29/18 17 3942-3950 
 Plaintiffs’ Rule 60(b) Motion for 
 Relief 
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 Larry Willard and Brian Moquin 
 between March 30 and April 2, 2018 
 
 Exhibit 8:  Email correspondence  17 3990-3994 
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55. Order re Request for Entry of 06/04/18 17 4005-4009 
 Judgment 
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62. Notice of Entry of Order re Judgment 12/11/18 18 4133-4136 
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 Judgment 
 
63. Notice of Appeal 12/28/18 18 4141-4144 
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 Rule 60(b) Motion for Relief,  
 entered November 30, 2018 
 
 Exhibit 3:  Judgment, entered  18 4213-4216 
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64. Transcript of Proceedings – Status 08/17/15 18 4217-4234 
 Hearing 
 
65. Transcript of Proceedings -  01/10/17 19 4235-4303 
 Hearing on Motion for Partial 
 Summary Judgment 
 
66. Transcript of Proceedings - 12/12/17 19 4304-4331 
 Pre-Trial Conference 
 
67. Transcript of Proceedings -  09/04/18 19 4332-4352 
 Oral Arguments – Plaintiffs’ Rule 
 60(b) Motion (condensed) 
 
ADDITIONAL DOCUMENTS 
 
68. Order Granting Defendants’ 01/04/18 19 4353-4357 
 Motion for Partial Summary 
 Judgment [Oral Argument 
 Requested]1 

 
1 This document was inadvertently omitted earlier. It was added here because al of the other papers in the 19-
volume appendix had already been numbered. 
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CODE:  2645 
Richard D. Williamson, Esq., SBN 9932 
Jonathan Joel Tew, Esq., SBN 11874 
ROBERTSON, JOHNSON, MILLER & WILLIAMSON 
50 West Liberty Street, Suite 600 
Reno, Nevada 89501 
Telephone: (775) 329-5600 
Facsimile: (775) 348-8300 
Attorneys for the Willard Plaintiffs 
 

IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 
 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE 
 

 
 
LARRY J. WILLARD, individually and as 
Trustee of the Larry James Willard Trust Fund; 
OVERLAND DEVELOPMENT 
CORPORATION, a California corporation; 
EDWARD E. WOOLEY AND JUDITH A. 
WOOLEY, individually and as trustees of the 
Edward C. Wooley and Judith A. Wooley 
Intervivos Revocable Trust 2000, 
 
  Plaintiffs, 
 
 vs. 
 
BERRY-HINCKLEY INDUSTRIES, a Nevada 
corporation; and JERRY HERBST, an 
individual 
 
  Defendants. 
 

  
Case No. CV14-01712 
 
Dept. No. 6 
 
 

 
BERRY-HINCKLEY INDUSTRIES a Nevada 
corporation; and JERRY HERBST, 
an individual, 
 
  Counterclaimants, 
 
 vs. 
 
LARRY J. WILLARD, individually and as 
Trustee of the Larry James Willard Trust Fund; 
OVERLAND DEVELOPMENT 
CORPORATION, a California corporation,  
 
  Counterdefendants. 
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. INTRODUCTION 

Defendant Berry-Hinckley Industries (“BHI”) and Defendant Jerry Herbst filed their 

Motion to Strike, or in the Alternative, Motion for Leave to File Sur-Reply (“Motion to Strike”) 

for the admitted purpose of giving them the last word on the Willard Plaintiffs’ underlying Rule 

60(b) Motion for Relief (“Rule 60 Motion”).  Yet, no amount of procedural gamesmanship can 

distract from the uncontested fact that the Willard Plaintiffs’ former attorney suffered a mental 

breakdown and violated his duties to this Court and his own clients through no fault of their own.   

The Motion to Strike offers four arguments, each of which fail.  First, Defendants argue 

that the Court should reject Exhibits 1 through 10 attached to the Reply in Support of the Willard 

Plaintiffs’ Rule 60(b) Motion for Relief (“Rule 60 Reply”) because the Defendants did not have 

an opportunity to respond.  Of course, the Defendants have now responded, so that argument is 

plainly untrue.  Moreover, this argument is even belied by the Defendants’ own practice of 

attaching exhibits to reply briefs.  Both parties have attached exhibits to reply briefs when those 

exhibits are offered to rebut evidence or arguments raised in the opposition brief.  The exhibits 

attached to the Rule 60 Reply were offered to address issues raised in Defendants’ opposition 

brief.  Therefore, they are appropriate and the Defendants’ first argument fails.   

The Motion to Strike next asserts that “portions” of some exhibits are inadmissible 

hearsay.  Again, however, Defendants miss the mark.  Specifically, Defendants challenge the 

foundation of Mr. Willard’s statements regarding Brian Moquin’s mental condition and personal 

life.  (Mot. Strike at 4:20-5:11.)  The Defendants also claim that any correspondence from 

Mr. Moquin or David O’Mara constitutes hearsay.  (Id. at 5:12-18.)  Yet, both of these assertions 

are untrue.  Mr. Willard’s declaration is plainly based upon his personal knowledge and his 

direct observations.  The statements from Mr. Moquin and Mr. O’Mara are also not subject to the 

hearsay rule and, as explained below, are admissible at this stage anyway.   

The Motion to Strike’s third argument is that any communication that took place after the 

sanctions orders is somehow irrelevant.  This is not true.  Not only do recent communications 

plainly show Mr. Moquin’s ongoing failure to comply with deadlines and his poor grip on 

A.App.4038
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reality, but they are also offered to rebut Defendants’ assertion in their opposition brief that the 

Willard Plaintiffs should have obtained more evidence about Mr. Moquin’s mental condition.  

As the Court can see, the Willard Plaintiffs and their new attorneys diligently sought to obtain a 

formal diagnosis and other information regarding Mr. Moquin’s bipolar disorder.  Unfortunately, 

despite his initial promises to provide such information, Mr. Moquin ultimately chose to 

compound his wrongdoing and failed to provide the promised documentation.   

Defendants’ final argument is to ask the Court for permission to file a sur-reply, which it 

unilaterally attached to its Motion to Strike.  Thus, without leave of Court, Defendants went 

ahead and granted themselves the very relief they seek.  While the Willard Plaintiffs believe this 

was improper, it is also now a fait accompli.  Although the Willard Plaintiffs cannot “unring that 

bell” the Court should nonetheless deny the Motion to Strike. 

Most importantly, nothing in the Motion to Strike or the Defendants’ self-approved sur-

reply actually offers any contrary evidence to rebut the critical and uncontested fact that Brian 

Moquin is suffering from severe mental illness which derailed this case.  That is not the Willard 

Plaintiffs’ fault.  They deserve the opportunity to try their case on the merits, rather than forfeit 

millions of dollars in damages because their attorney suffered a mental breakdown.   

II. LEGAL ARGUMENT 

A. The Rule 60 Reply Properly Offered Rebuttal Evidence in Response to the 

Arguments in Defendants’ Opposition Brief 

 Defendants’ first argument is based on the false assertion that any exhibits attached to a 

reply brief should be disregarded.  Clearly, the Defendants do not actually believe this, as they 

attached new exhibits to their own Reply in Support of Motion for Attorneys’ Fees, which they 

filed on June 11, 2018.  Therefore, despite their disingenuous arguments to the contrary, the 

Defendants apparently know the actual law:  “Where the reply affidavit merely responds to 

matters placed in issue by the opposition brief and does not spring upon the opposing party new 

reasons for the [motion], reply papers--both briefs and affidavits--may properly address those 

issues.” Baugh v. City of Milwaukee, 823 F. Supp. 1452, 1457 (E.D. Wis. 1993), aff'd, 41 F.3d 

1510 (7th Cir. 1994); see also Rayon-Terrell v. Contra Costa County, 232 Fed. Appx. 626, 629 

A.App.4039
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n.2 (9th Cir. 2007) (holding evidence in a reply brief was not new where the reply “addressed the 

same set of facts supplied in Terrell's opposition to the motion but provides the full context to 

Terrell's selected recitation of the facts.”); Carr v. Int'l Game Tech., 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 

23010, at *13 n.1 (D. Nev. Feb. 15, 2013) (finding that “the allegedly new evidence submitted 

with the reply was not new and was properly attached in response to arguments made in 

Defendants' opposition.” (emphasis supplied)). 

 Here, the evidence in the original Rule 60 Motion established Mr. Moquin’s mental 

illness, Mr. Moquin’s failure to meet deadlines, the plaintiffs’ discovery of those issues, the 

Willard Plaintiffs’ efforts to rectify those issues, the various points of equity and good cause 

supporting the Rule 60 Motion, and the underlying merits of the Willard Plaintiffs’ case.  In their 

Rule 60 Opposition, the Defendants challenged the timing and legitimacy of Mr. Moquin’s 

mental breakdown, the sufficiency of the evidence regarding his mental illness, the timing of 

plaintiffs’ awareness of Mr. Moquin’s various problems, and the timing of the Willard Plaintiffs’ 

efforts to correct Mr. Moquin’s failures in this case.  The Defendants also attached their own 

evidence, including a declaration of counsel, two hearing transcripts, the excerpt of a deposition 

transcript, the California State Bar’s attorney search results for Mr. Moquin, and the plaintiffs’ 

initial disclosure statement from 2014.  Therefore, in the Rule 60 Reply, the Willard Plaintiffs 

properly focused their arguments and rebuttal evidence on the arguments raised in Defendants’ 

opposition brief.  In particular, the Rule 60 Reply directly addressed the Defendants’ incorrect 

assertions and challenges to the timing and legitimacy of Mr. Moquin’s mental breakdown, the 

timing of the Willard Plaintiffs’discovery of that breakdown and his failure to meet deadlines, 

the Willard Plaintiffs’ efforts to gather responsive documentation from Mr. Moquin, and the 

timing of the Willard Plaintiffs’ efforts to correct Mr. Moquin’s failures.   

 Indeed, all of the exhibits attached to the Rule 60 Reply are solely focused on those 

arguments that the Defendants raised in their opposition.  In Exhibit 1, Mr. Willard even states 

that he offered “this supplemental declaration in response to the claims and arguments made in 

the defendants’ Opposition to Rule 60(b) Motion for Relief regarding lawyer Brian Moquin’s 

personal and mental problems.”  Appropriately, Mr. Willard did not supplement anything 

A.App.4040
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regarding the underlying merits of his case, which the Defendants did not dispute.  Exhibits 2, 3, 

4, and 11 all addressed the timing of Mr. Willard’s discovery that Mr. Moquin did not file the 

required briefs in December 2017, despite his repeated assurances that he would do so.  Exhibit 5 

corrects the Defendants’ misstatements on the timing of Mr. Willard’s discovery of 

Mr. Moquin’s mental illness and his payment of Mr. Moquin’s psychiatric bill.  Exhibits 6 

through 10 show the Willard Plaintiffs’ diligent efforts to gather case files, mental health 

diagnoses, and other applicable documentation from Mr. Moquin.  Finally, Exhibits 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 

7, 8, and 10 document Mr. Moquin’s failures to respond to the Willard Plaintiffs and provide 

clear examples of Mr. Moquin’s mental illness and personal problems.   

Therefore, all of the exhibits attached to the reply were directly responsive to the 

arguments, issues, and evidence raised in Defendants’ opposition.  That is the function of a reply 

brief, and it is the way that Defendants themselves have used reply briefs in this case.  Nothing in 

the reply brief supported a “new” argument or raised a “new” issue.  Accordingly, under the 

parties’ recognized briefing rules, and consistent with court holdings across the country, the 

Court must consider all of the rebuttal evidence attached to the Rule 60 Reply and should not 

give Defendants a sur-reply.  Therefore, the Court should deny the Motion to Strike.   

B. All of the Evidence Attached to the Rule 60 Reply Is Admissible 

The Rule 60 Reply contains the following exhibits: 

1. Declaration of Larry J. Willard in Response to Defendants’ Opposition to 
Rule 60(b) Motion for Relief 

2. Text messages between Larry Willard and Brian Moquin between 
December 2 and December 6, 2017 

3. Email correspondence between David O’Mara and Brian Moquin 

4. Text messages between Larry Willard and Brian Moquin between 
December 19 and December 25, 2017 

5. A receipt for Dr. Douglas Mar’s services to Brian Moquin  

6. Email correspondence between Richard Williamson and Brian Moquin 
dated February 5 through March 21, 2018 

7. Text messages between Larry Willard and Brian Moquin between March 
30 and April 2, 2018 

8. Email correspondence between Jonathan Tew, Richard Williamson and 
Brian Moquin dated April 2 through April 13, 2018 

9. Letter from Richard Williamson to Brian Moquin dated May 14, 2018 

A.App.4041
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10. Email correspondence between Larry Willard and Brian Moquin dated 
May 23 through May 28, 2018  

11. Notice of Withdrawal of Local Counsel 
 
Defendants do not oppose exhibit 11, but dismissively claim that the remaining evidence 

is “rank hearsay, speculation, and inappropriate and unqualified lay expert opinions.”  Despite 

Defendants’ rhetorical flourishes, a careful review of these exhibits actually shows that 

Defendants’ claims are unsupported by the law.  The exhibits are properly admitted. 

The exhibits at issue generally fall into three categories.  Exhibit 1 is Larry Willard’s 

declaration.  Exhibit 5 is a receipt for Dr. Mar’s services.  All of the other challenged exhibits 

(Exhibits 2-4 and 6-10) are correspondence.    

 i. Larry Willard’s Declaration Is Valid and Admissible  

The first exhibit at issue is Larry Willard’s declaration.  The Defendants’ sole complaint 

with respect to Mr. Willard’s declaration is that it is supposedly based on hearsay over which 

Mr. Willard has no personal knowledge.  This argument fails for two reasons.  First, as the 

declaration itself makes plain, most of the statements are based on Mr. Willard’s own personal 

knowledge and perceptions.  Second, just because some statements may constitute hearsay in a 

declaration does not mean that they are inadmissible for purposes of ruling on a motion. 

a.  The Willard Declaration Is Based on Personal Knowledge, Not Hearsay 

Mr. Willard’s declaration is primarily based upon his own personal knowledge.  In the 

declaration, Mr. Willard expressly confirms “under penalty of perjury under the law of the State 

of Nevada that the foregoing is true and correct.”  A declaration is admissible to the same extent 

as an affidavit.  NRS 53.045.  The declaration satisfies the requirements of that statute.  

Therefore, it is admissible.  

Mr. Willard’s declaration is also based upon his own personal knowledge – facts he 

personally perceived.  For instance, Mr. Willard offers his initial impression that in 2014 Mr. 

Moquin “seemed to be a stable, accomplished lawyer with no known record of any bar 

complaints, misconduct, or other causes for concern.”  (Ex. 1 to Rule 60 Reply at ¶ 7.)  Mr. 

Willard later explains, however, that Mr. Moquin suffered “what I can only describe as a total 

mental breakdown in December 2017.”  (Id. at ¶ 16.)  As a lay witness, Mr. Willard can properly 
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describe and explain what he perceives.  NRS 50.265; Criswell v. State, 84 Nev. 459, 464, 443 

P.2d 552, 555 (1968) (“A lay witness can give his opinion as to the sanity or insanity of a 

defendant, and the weight accorded his testimony is a question for the jury to determine.”); see 

also Carter v. United States, 252 F.2d 608, 618 (D.C. Cir. 1957) (“Lay witnesses may testify 

upon observed symptoms of mental disease, because mental illness is characterized by 

departures from normal conduct.”).   

There are other facts that Mr. Willard personally perceived.  Mr. Willard can undoubtedly 

testify to such claims as “I arranged to pay Dr. Mar for his services” and “I paid Dr. Mar’s office 

$470 to pay for Mr. Moquin’s treatment so that Mr. Moquin could get well and help us fix the 

case.”  (Ex. 1 to Rule 60 Reply at ¶¶ 39-40.)  Similarly, Mr. Willard’s declaration explains that 

he has “had to endure threats and claims from Mr. Moquin” and that “Mr. Moquin’s emotional 

swings have become terrifying and impossible to predict.”  (Id. at ¶¶ 65-66.)  Mr. Willard 

personally did and experienced all of those things, and so he has personal knowledge of the 

statements.  They are not hearsay. 

Mr. Moquin’s admission that “Dr. Mar had diagnosed him with bipolar disorder” is also 

not hearsay.  (Id. at ¶¶ 38.)  A person’s statement of his “then-existing state of mind, emotion, 

sensation or physical condition, such as intent, plan, motive, design, mental feeling, pain and 

bodily health, is not inadmissible under the hearsay rule.” NRS 51.105(1).   

Similarly, any “statement describing or explaining an event or condition made while the 

declarant was perceiving the event or condition, or immediately thereafter, is not inadmissible 

under the hearsay rule.” NRS 51.085 (emphasis added).  In addition, statements of marriage, 

divorce, and other personal history are not inadmissible under the hearsay rule.  NRS 51.355(1).    

b.  The Defendants’ Motion to Strike Misstates the Law 

In their Motion to Strike, Defendants cite to two cases for the purported proposition that 

any hearsay testimony renders a Rule 60 motion defective.  As is becoming alarmingly common, 

however, the Defendants have misstated the cases they cite.   

First, Defendants cite to the case of Agnello v. Walker, 306 S.W.3d 666 (Mo. Ct. App. 

2010) for the supposed proposition that “hearsay testimony or documentation cannot serve as the 

A.App.4043

A.App.4043



Robertson, Johnson, 
Miller & Williamson 

50 West Liberty Street, 
Suite 600 

Reno, Nevada 89501 

 

  

OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO STRIKE, OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE, MOTION FOR LEAVE TO FILE SUR-REPLY 
PAGE 7 

 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

evidence necessary to meet movant’s burden of persuasion to set aside judgment under Rule 60.” 

(Mot. Strike at 5:4-5.)  Unfortunately, the Agnello case says nothing of the sort.  Rather, it 

explains that what happened in that case was:   

[T]he Walker affidavits did not proffer any testimony relating to the "good cause" 
element of Rule 74.05(d). Likewise, no other competent evidence on that topic 
was offered to the trial court in advance of the trial court's ruling on the motion to 
set aside default judgment. Instead, Walker's counsel argued the element of 
"good cause" without any sworn testimony or other competent evidence.  

 
Agnello, 306 S.W.3d at 673 (emphasis in original).1  As opposed to the affidavits in the Agnello 

case, Mr. Willard’s two declarations did contain extensive testimony on the excusable neglect 

and the good cause that justify setting aside the sanctions orders.  For instance, all of the 

following statements in Mr. Willard’s declaration are based on his personal knowledge; they go 

directly to the issue of excusable neglect and refute the Defendants’ unsubstantiated claim in 

their Rule 60 Opposition that Mr. Willard was somehow aware of Mr. Moquin’s problems, but 

“did nothing” to fix them: 

 “I sent Mr. Moquin a text message on Saturday, December 2, 2017, to confirm 
that everything was moving forward okay.”   

 “When Mr. Moquin did not respond, I wrote to him the next day asking if I 
needed to review anything.  Mr. Moquin did not respond again.”   

 “In fact, during the first week in December, I texted and/or called Mr. Moquin 
daily, often without receiving any response.”   

 “I expected that he would come through.” 

 “The next week I followed up with Mr. Moquin to ensure that he had filed the 
required documents”  

 “I sent Mr. Moquin a text message on Tuesday, December 19, 2017, asking if the 
documents were almost finished.” 

 “The next day, however, Mr. Moquin failed to respond.  I kept texting the next 
day and he still failed to respond.” 

 “After that, however, Mr. Moquin stopped responding again.  I kept texting him 
until December 25 asking for an update and pleading with him to get the 
documents filed, but did not receive a response.” 

 “After Mr. Moquin suffered this mental breakdown, I recommended that he visit 
Dr. Douglas Mar, who is well-respected psychiatrist in Campbell, California.”   

 “I also started looking for other attorneys who might be able to help.”  

                                                           

  1  Agnello was also decided under a completely different rule: Missouri Supreme Court Rule 74.05, not Rule 60.  
Mo. Sup. Ct. R. 74.05 does seem to serve a similar purpose as NRCP 60, but the two rules are not the same. 
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 “After obtaining a loan from a friend, I arranged to pay Dr. Mar for his services, 
but I do not know if Mr. Moquin has continued with any course of treatment.”   

 “On March 13, 2018, I paid Dr. Mar’s office $470 to pay for Mr. Moquin’s 
treatment so that Mr. Moquin could get well and help us fix the case.”   

 “I then sent text messages on March 31, April 1, and April 2 urging Mr. Moquin 
to provide Mr. Williamson with everything he needed to try and reinstate this 
case.”   

 “Mr. Moquin’s abusive and threatening language in his text dated April 2, 2018, 
is just one example of the abusive treatment I received from Mr. Moquin.”   

 “On Wednesday, May 23, 2018, I again wrote to Mr. Moquin begging him to 
provide a diagnosis letter from Dr. Mar . . . along with evidence that Mr. Moquin 
claims to possess that he timely disclosed our damage calculations and an 
affidavit from Mr. Moquin explaining his personal situation and how it impacted 
his performance in this case.”   

 “I have had to endure threats and claims from Mr. Moquin based on his view that 
I am somehow hurting him, his family, and his career.”   

 “Mr. Moquin’s emotional swings have become terrifying and impossible to 
predict.”   

 “I am an innocent victim of Mr. Moquin’s instability and believe that I deserve an 
opportunity to prove my case against the defendants.”   
 

(Ex. 1 to Rule 60 Reply at ¶¶ 18-20, 22, 27-30, 35, 36, 39, 40, 49, 52, 59, 65-67.)   

 The second case that Defendants cite is likewise inapposite.  In that case, New Image 

Indus., Inc. v. Rice, 603 So. 2d 895 (Ala. 1992), New Image Industries, Inc. sought to set aside a 

default judgment on the ground of excusable neglect in failing to answer the complaint.  The 

motion was supported by two affidavits – only one of which even attempted to address the 

question of “excusable neglect.”  New Image Indus., 603 So. 2d at 897.  And that affidavit 

consisted of the following: 

Gurevitch stated that he was "informed and believed" that Lynn Unruh of New 
Image had received the complaint by certified mail on March 7, 1991, but, he 
suggested, because she was not New Image's regular receptionist, she did not 
understand where to direct it. He said that he was "informed and believed" that the 
complaint was "generally" addressed to "New Image," and the record indicates 
this to be correct.  
 
Gurevitch added that he "did not recall" being informed of the receipt of the 
complaint and that he first realized the existence of this action when he received a 
notice indicating that a default judgment had been entered. He stated that if he had 
known about the lawsuit in time to file a timely response he would have done so. 
 

Id.  Based on the New Image opinion, that was it.   

 Clearly, the New Image case is remarkably different from this one.  Mr. Willard’s two 

declarations contain numerous facts that are based on his personal knowledge, not information 
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and belief.  Those declarations provide ample detail of what he did, why, and when.  The 

Defendants’ desperate attempts to use ill-fitting analogies only emphasize that the actual facts in 

this case demand a different result.  Mr. Willard’s detailed, first-hand declarations are valid 

evidence that the Court should consider and follow in granting the Rule 60 Motion. 

c.  The Willard Declaration Properly Contains Evidence That Would Be 

Admissible in an Evidentiary Hearing 

As explained above, Mr. Willard’s declaration is based upon his own personal knowledge 

and the few facts that he obtained from Brian Moquin are not subject to the hearsay rule.  

Moreover, even when some statements constitute hearsay in a declaration, that evidence may still 

be used to support a motion.  In fact, any declaration is by definition an out of court statement, 

and most declarations are offered to prove the truth of the matters asserted therein.  This is true 

even of declarations offered in support of a motion for summary judgment, which has a higher 

and more difficult standard than a motion for relief under Rule 60. 

As the Third Circuit has explained that “[w]hile the facts underlying the affidavit must be 

of a type that would be admissible as evidence, the affidavit itself does not have to be in a form 

that would be admissible at trial.”  Hughes v. United States, 953 F.2d 531, 543 (9th Cir. 1992) 

(internal citations omitted).  “A party need not produce evidence at summary judgment in a form 

which would be admissible at trial so long as it is reducible to admissible evidence.”  Tukesbrey 

v. Midwest Transit, 822 F. Supp. 1192, 1198 n.7 (W.D. Pa. 1993).  As the Ninth Circuit aptly 

explained:  “At the summary judgment stage, we do not focus on the admissibility of the 

evidence's form. We instead focus on the admissibility of its contents.”  Fraser v. Goodale, 342 

F.3d 1032, 1036 (9th Cir. 2003).  In this case, Mr. Willard already has personal knowledge of 

most statements in his declaration.  As for the few statements that could be classified as hearsay, 

Mr. Moquin’s doctors, Mr. Moquin’s wife, and certainly Mr. Moquin himself could all present 

direct testimony on those subjects.  If needed, the parties could even pursue out-of-state 

discovery on these topics.  Clearly, however, the Defendants do not actually challenge the 

accuracy of the statements in Mr. Willard’s declaration.  Rather, the Defendants are just raising 

procedural arguments to avoid the application of those uncontested facts.   
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The truth is that Mr. Willard’s declaration is valid and admissible.  The vast majority of 

his statements are based on his own personal knowledge, so there is no basis to even question 

them.  The handful of statements that are derived from Mr. Moquin’s statements are either 

immune from the hearsay rule, or are still admissible at this stage since they could be directly 

provided in an evidentiary hearing.  For all of these reasons, the Court must accept Mr. Willard’s 

declaration in full. 

 ii. The Receipt for Dr. Mar Is Also Admissible  

Defendants also challenge the receipt that Mr. Willard received from Dr. Douglas Mar.  

That receipt was placed at issue by Defendants’ unsupported argument in their opposition that 

because Mr. Willard “recommended a psychiatrist to Mr. Moquin” and “borrowed money from a 

friend to pay for Mr. Moquin’s treatment” that it is somehow “abundantly clear that Mr. Willard 

was fully-aware of Mr. Moquin’s alleged problems, yet continued to allow Mr. Moquin to 

represent Plaintiffs.”  (Rule 60 Opp'n at 15:6-10.)  Yet, the Defendants’ unfounded claims are 

contrary to the actual facts. 

As Mr. Willard explained in his supplemental declaration, Mr. Willard did not learn of 

Mr. Moquin’s diagnosis until January 2018.  (Ex. 1 to Rule 60 Reply at ¶¶ 37-38.)  Mr. Willard 

goes on to explain that he then secured a loan from a friend and made arrangements to pay for 

Mr. Moquin’s psychiatric treatment.  (Id. at ¶ 39.)  Mr. Willard further explains that he paid Mr. 

Moquin’s psychiatrist on March 13, 2018.  (Id. at ¶ 40.)  The receipt is corroboration of that 

payment.  Both of these facts are within Mr. Willard’s personal knowledge.  At a trial or in an 

evidentiary hearing, he could and would testify to those very same facts and lay the foundation 

for the receipt he received from Dr. Mar’s office.  As noted above, in the context of reviewing 

evidence attached to a motion, courts “do not focus on the admissibility of the evidence's form” 

but “instead focus on the admissibility of its contents.”  Fraser, 342 F.3d at 1036.  Therefore, 

Mr. Willard’s statements and his supporting receipt are properly admissible as exhibits.   

 iii. All of the Correspondence with Brian Moquin Is Admissible 

Defendants next challenge Exhibits 2 through 4 and 6 through 10, which are text 

messages, emails, and other correspondence between Brian Moquin and Mr. Willard or his other 
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attorneys.  Again, in reviewing evidence attached to motions, courts “do not focus on the 

admissibility of the evidence's form” and “instead focus on the admissibility of its contents.”  

Fraser, 342 F.3d at 1036.  In that case, the Ninth Circuit explained that a diary could be admitted 

into evidence, even though the statements in the diary were clearly hearsay.  Id., 342 F.3d at 

1037.  Just as the author of a diary could appear and testify in court, so could the authors of any 

of the letters and text messages attached to the Rule 60 Reply.  Therefore, they are all admissible.   

In addition, even ignoring the rule in Fraser, the correspondence is still not excluded 

under the hearsay rule.  All of Mr. Moquin’s statements regarding his mental health, divorce, and 

other personal problems are statements of his “then-existing state of mind, emotion, sensation or 

physical condition,” which constitutes an exception to the hearsay rule. NRS 51.105(1).  

Similarly, statements of divorce or other personal history are not inadmissible under the hearsay 

rule.  NRS 51.355(1).  Importantly, the statements also describe or explain events and conditions 

that Mr. Moquin personally perceived and which he was describing while or immediately after 

he perceived them. This is another exception to the hearsay rule. NRS 51.085.   

Finally, Nevada’s hearsay laws also explain that a statement should not be excluded by 

the hearsay rule “if its nature and the special circumstances under which it was made offer 

assurances of accuracy”  that are not likely to be enhanced by calling the declarant as a witness.  

NRS 51.075(1).  As the Court can see for itself, Exhibits 2 through 4 and 6 through 10 all show 

the efforts that Mr. Willard and his attorneys made to contact Mr. Moquin, work with Mr. 

Moquin, and obtain files from Mr. Moquin.  There is no concern about inaccuracy because the 

statements were made privately between attorneys and their client.  They also do not bear on the 

merits of the case.  In fact, the subjects of these exhibits are collateral to the merits of this case, 

they are only offered now because the Defendants claimed that the Willard Plaintiffs knew of 

Mr. Moquin’s problems and yet “did nothing” to address them.  Mr. Willard’s own testimony 

should sufficiently refute this claim and justify granting the Rule 60 Motion.  The other 

admissible exhibits attached to the Rule 60 Reply rebut Defendants’ baseless claims to the 

contrary, and underscore the fact that the Willard Plaintiffs did what any reasonable person 

would have done in their situation.  Therefore, the Court should deny the Motion to Strike.   

A.App.4048

A.App.4048



Robertson, Johnson, 
Miller & Williamson 

50 West Liberty Street, 
Suite 600 

Reno, Nevada 89501 

 

  

OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO STRIKE, OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE, MOTION FOR LEAVE TO FILE SUR-REPLY 
PAGE 12 

 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

C. The Evidence Attached to the Rule 60 Reply Is Relevant and Responds to the 

Exhibits and Arguments Raised in Defendants’ Opposition 

 The Defendants incorrectly assert that the evidence attached to the Rule 60 Reply is 

irrelevant to the question of excusable neglect.  They are wrong, as the evidence confirms that 

Mr. Moquin was suffering from a myriad of personal crises that affected his performance in this 

case and his ability to meet basic deadlines.  Indeed, the evidence attached to the Rule 60 Reply 

is expressly offered as rebuttal evidence to the Defendants’ arguments on those points.   

Relevant evidence is “evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact 

that is of consequence to the determination of the action more or less probable than it would be 

without the evidence.” NRS 48.015.  All relevant evidence is generally admissible. NRS 48.025. 

Although it is unrelated to the underlying merits of the case, the Defendants’ Rule 60 

Opposition challenged whether Mr. Moquin was really suffering from mental illness, whether his 

personal problems affected the case, and whether the Willard Plaintiffs took appropriate steps to 

address Mr. Moquin’s failures.  Thus, for purposes of briefing the Rule 60 Reply, any exhibit 

“having any tendency” to make the existence of those facts “more or less probable” is relevant.  

NRS 48.015.  Therefore, unless expressly excluded under Nevada’s rules of evidence, those 

exhibits are admissible.  NRS 48.025. 

In his declaration, Mr. Willard explained that he was offering the “supplemental 

declaration in response to the claims and arguments made in the defendants’ Opposition to Rule 

60(b) Motion for Relief regarding lawyer Brian Moquin’s personal and mental problems.”  (Ex. 

1 to Rule 60 Reply at ¶ 2.)  Notably, the Defendants did not challenge any of the evidence or 

arguments from the Rule 60 Motion on the subject of their meritorious claims for relief.  Rather, 

the Rule 60 Opposition solely focused on whether Brian Moquin’s mental breakdown was real, 

whether it had any impact on the case, and whether the Willard Plaintiffs did anything about it.  

Therefore, Mr. Willard’s supplemental declaration focused on those issues.  

Defendants’ Rule 60 Opposition also simply misconstrued numerous facts, which forced 

the Willard Plaintiffs to provide rebuttal evidence showing that Defendants’ claims were false.  

For instance, one critically-false portion of Defendants’ Rule 60 Opposition asserted as follows: 
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Mr. Willard admits that he was aware of Mr. Moquin’s personal financial 
problems and that he loaned Mr. Moquin money to assuage those problems, that 
he was aware of Mr. Moquin’s alleged psychological problems and loaned him 
money for treatment, and that he was aware that Mr. Moquin was not responsive 
prior to the dismissal of his claims yet did nothing because he was not financially 
able to hire new counsel (though he was apparently able to obtain funds to allow 
him to hire his current counsel). This does not constitute excusable neglect. 
 

(Rule 60 Opp'n at 4:25-5:4 (emphasis in original).)   

As explained above, the Defendants’ insinuation that the Willard Plaintiffs were aware of 

Mr. Moquin’s bipolar disorder before January 2018 is simply false.  Therefore, the Willard 

Plaintiffs’ Rule 60 Reply provided rebuttal evidence in direct response to the Defendants’ false 

assertions and misstatements of the record.   

Defendants also claim that Mr. Moquin’s post-sanctions conduct is irrelevant.  Again, 

however, that is not true.  First, Defendants claim that the Willard Plaintiffs did not provide 

enough evidence of Mr. Moquin’s condition and that they “did nothing” to fix the problems that 

Mr. Moquin had created.  The exhibits attached to the Rule 60 reply debunk both assertions, and 

are therefore relevant rebuttal evidence. 

Second, evidence of Mr. Moquin’s mental illness and aberrant behavior in early 2018 is 

also directly relevant to the question of his mental health in December 2017.   

“Under the state of mind exception, hearsay evidence is admissible if it bears on the state 

of mind of the declarant and if that state of mind is an issue in the case.”  United States v. 

Pheaster, 544 F.2d 353, 376 (9th Cir. 1976); accord White v. State, 2017 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 

301 at *3, 394 P.3d 209 (Nev. April 26, 2017).   

As one court explained, “out-of-court statements which are offered to prove the 

declarant's state of mind are not within the interdiction of the hearsay rule. For example, when 

the declarant's sanity or competency are in issue, statements indicating the presence or absence 

of either of these mental traits are properly received as evidence.”  Commonwealth v. Wright, 

317 A.2d 271, 274 (Pa. 1974); accord Brown v. Williams, No. 2:10-cv-00407-PMP-GWF, 2012 

U.S. Dist. LEXIS 105463, at *12 (D. Nev. July 30, 2012) (allowing limited discovery into a 

party’s mental health because “petitioner's mental health condition at one time potentially can 

have relevance to his condition at another time or overall.”). 
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D. Defendants’ Sur-Reply Is Improper, But Also Cannot Avoid the Uncontested 

Reality that Brian Moquin Is Solely at Fault in this Case and the Willard Plaintiffs 

Should Be Entitled to Proceed with the Merits of Their Case 

 As with their motion to exceed page limits, the Defendants have a curious way of just 

granting themselves the very relief they seek.  Now, along with their Motion to Strike, the 

Defendants have attached an as-yet-unapproved sur-reply.2  As explained above, however, the 

Defendants are not entitled to a sur-reply.    

All of the exhibits attached to the Rule 60 Reply were directly responsive to the 

arguments, issues, and evidence raised in Defendants’ opposition.  The Rule 60 Reply did not 

raise any “new” arguments or issues.  Rather, it only offered rebuttal exhibits in response to the 

arguments and exhibits that Defendants included in their opposition.  Therefore, the exhibits 

attached to the Rule 60 Reply are appropriate.  See, e.g., Baugh, 823 F. Supp. at 1457; Carr, 

2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 23010, at *13 n.1.  Accordingly, the Court should deny the Motion to 

Strike and disregard the Defendants’ sur-reply.   

Most importantly, nothing in either the Motion to Strike or the proposed sur-reply 

actually offers any contrary evidence to rebut the critical and uncontested fact that Brian Moquin 

has bipolar disorder and suffered a mental breakdown that derailed this case.   

III. CONCLUSION 

The Defendants are desperately trying to disregard the truth and hold on to the forfeit that 

Brian Moquin’s unfortunate failures provided to them.  Thus, rather than address the merits of 

this case, they challenge the sufficiency of the undisputed evidence regarding Mr. Moquin’s 

mental illness and other personal struggles.  Similarly, instead of properly addressing the 

Supreme Court’s required factors under Yochum v. Davis, 98 Nev. 484, 653 P.2d 1215 (1982) 

                                                           

  2  The Defendants’ proposed sur-reply also violates the Court’s Pretrial Order, which specifically states that “reply 
memoranda may not exceed five pages in length.”  (Pretrial Order at 5:20-21.) The Pretrial Order goes on to explain 
that “[a] party may file memoranda that exceeds these limits only with prior approval of the court, upon a showing 
of extraordinary circumstances.”  (Id. at 5:21-23 (emphasis in original).)  Incredibly, this improper sur-reply comes 
just a few weeks after Plaintiffs’ Opposition to Defendants’ Motion to Exceed Page Limit, which reminded 
Defendants of these very page limits and the required procedure to change them.  Therefore, Defendants’ repeated 
refusal to comply with the Pretrial Order provides another reason for the Court to reject the sur-reply. 
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and Young v. Johnny Ribeiro Bldg., 106 Nev. 88, 787 P.2d 777 (1990), the Defendants instead 

liberally quote from the sanctions order that they drafted and submitted without opposition from 

Mr. Moquin.  Now, with no answer to the mountain of evidence justifying the Willard Plaintiffs’ 

Rule 60 Motion, the Defendants have decided to file this Motion to Strike.   

This case has had enough side shows.  It is time to confront the merits.  Therefore, the 

Court should deny the Motion to Strike, it should disregard the unauthorized sur-reply, and it 

should grant the Willard Plaintiffs’ Rule 60 Motion. 

Affirmation 

 Pursuant to NRS § 239B.030, the undersigned does hereby affirm that the preceding 

document does not contain the social security number of any person. 

 Dated this 22nd day of June, 2018. 

ROBERTSON, JOHNSON,  
MILLER & WILLIAMSON  
 
 
By: /s/ Richard D. Williamson                   
 Richard D. Williamson, Esq. 
 Jonathan Joel Tew, Esq.  
 Attorneys for the Willard Plaintiffs 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 
 Pursuant to NRCP 5(b), I hereby certify that I am an employee of Robertson, Johnson, 

Miller & Williamson, 50 West Liberty Street, Suite 600, Reno, Nevada 89501, over the age 

of 18, and not a party within this action.  I further certify that on the 22nd day of June, 2018, I 

electronically filed the foregoing OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO 

STRIKE, OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE, MOTION FOR LEAVE TO FILE SUR-REPLY 

with the Clerk of the Court by using the ECF system which served the following parties 

electronically: 

John P. Desmond, Esq. 
Brian R. Irvine, Esq. 
Anjali D. Webster, Esq. 
Dickinson Wright 
100 West Liberty Street, Suite 940 
Reno, NV  89501 
Attorneys for Defendants/Counterclaimants 

 

 
/s/ Amy Sprinkle 

An Employee of Robertson, Johnson,Miller & Williamson
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Tel: (775) 343-7500 
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Attorney for Berry Hinckley Industries and Jerry Herbst 
 

IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 
 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE 
 

_________________________________________ 
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trustee of the Larry James Willard Trust Fund; 
OVERLAND DEVELOPMENT 
CORPORATION, a California corporation; 
EDWARD E. WOOLEY AND JUDITH A. 
WOOLEY, individually and as trustees of the 
Edward C. Wooley and Judith A. Wooley 
Intervivos Revocable Trust 2000, 
 
 

Plaintiffs, 
vs. 
 
BERRY-HINCKLEY INDUSTRIES, a Nevada 
corporation; and JERRY HERBST, an 
Individual; 
 
                                    Defendants. 
______________________________________/ 
 

CASE NO. CV14-01712 

DEPT. 6 
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Counter-defendants. 

_____________________________________/                                  

 

REPLY IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO STRIKE, OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE,  

MOTION FOR LEAVE TO FILE SUR-REPLY 

 Defendants/Counterclaimants Berry-Hinckley Industries (“BHI”) and Jerry Herbst 

(collectively the “Defendants”) by and through their counsel of record, Dickinson Wright, 

PLLC, respectfully submit this Reply in support of their Motion to Strike 10 of the 11 exhibits 

submitted by Plaintiffs in their reply in support of their Rule 60(b) Motion. Defendants also 

submit this Reply in support of their alternative Motion for Leave to File Sur-Reply responding 

to the new exhibits. 

 Plaintiffs attempt to characterize Defendants’ Motion to Strike as “procedural 

gamesmanship” and a “side show.” Opposition to pp. 1, 15. However, these characterizations 

are both unnecessary and incorrect. Defendants are simply seeking to ensure that the evidence 

considered by this Court in deciding the Rule 60(b) Motion is competent and admissible and 

that Defendants have the opportunity to respond to any such competent and admissible evidence 

as a matter of due process. 

 As noted in the Motion to Strike, “courts typically do not consider new evidence first 

submitted in a reply brief because the opposing party has no opportunity to respond to it.” 

Crandall v. Starbucks Corp., 249 F.Supp.3d 1087, 1104 (N.D.Cal. 2017) (citing Provenz v. 

Miller, 102 F.3d 1478, 1483 (9th Cir. 1996) (citation omitted) (“Where new evidence is 

presented in a reply to a motion for summary judgment, the district court should not consider 

the new evidence without giving the [non-]movant an opportunity to respond.”). Plaintiffs do 

not challenge this premise; rather, they argue that the new exhibits attached to their Reply are 

appropriate for this Court to consider because they constitute rebuttal evidence. However, this 

argument is belied by a review of the briefing on the Rule 60(b) Motion. 

 Plaintiffs chose to support their claim of excusable neglect in the Rule 60(b) Motion 

with a declaration from Mr. Willard that appears to be deliberately vague as to the timing of his 
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discovery of Mr. Moquin’s alleged mental problems and Mr. Willard’s actions taken in 

response to that discovery, presumably because Plaintiffs knew that including an accurate 

timeline would not support their argument of excusable neglect. When Defendants pointed out 

the vague nature of Plaintiffs’ argument, Plaintiffs decided to attach another declaration from 

Mr. Willard to their Reply, along with ten other new exhibits, most of which predate the filing 

of the Rule 60(b) Motion and could simply have been included with the original filing. None of 

the new exhibits address anything new; they all address alleged facts that were presented by 

Plaintiffs in their Rule 60(b) Motion, not facts raised by Defendants in their Opposition. 

Plaintiffs’ choice to withhold these documents from the Rule 60(b) Motion and instead attach 

them to the Reply was strategic and constitutes nothing more than briefing by ambush. This 

Court should not countenance such conduct and should strike Exhibits 1-10 from the Reply. 

 In addition, most of the new evidence attached to the Reply should be stricken as that 

evidence is hearsay and speculative. Specifically, Paragraphs 11, 14, 15, 16, 33 and 38 to Mr. 

Willard’s declaration contain allegations about Mr. Moquin’s financial situation, mental health 

and medical diagnosis and alleged marital conflict. See Reply at Exhibit 1. These allegations, 

due to the fact that they are all intensely personal to Mr. Moquin and could only be known by 

Mr. Moquin or his spouse, cannot simply be “observed” or “perceived” by a third party such as 

Mr. Willard.1 Such alleged facts could only be obtained via hearsay statements made by Mr. 

Moquin or his spouse or from hearsay documents. Or, such alleged facts would be pure 

speculation. 

 Plaintiffs attempt to overcome this situation simply by claiming, without factual or legal 

support, that Mr. Willard’s declaration was based upon his personal knowledge. Opposition at 

pp. 5-6. However, simply stating this does not make it so. There is simply no way that Mr. 

Willard could perceive and thus have personal knowledge of Mr. Moquin’s financial situation, 

                                                 
1 Also, Mr. Moquin resides in the San Jose, California area. Defendants are informed and believe 

that Mr. Willard currently resides in Texas and could not have personally viewed any of the 

alleged facts about Mr. Moquin contained in Mr. Willard’s declaration. 
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mental health and alleged marital conflict unless he heard that information from Mr. Moquin or 

his wife or gleaned the information from documents. This is hearsay, not personal knowledge 

based upon Mr. Willard’s perceptions. Plaintiffs’ other argument, that Mr. Willard’s testimony 

about Mr. Moquin’s statement about his medical diagnosis is admissible pursuant to NRS 

51.105(1) as a statement of Mr. Moquin’s then-existing bodily condition, is likewise unavailing, 

as Mr. Willard does not testify as to any contemporaneous statements that Mr. Moquin made 

about his own present physical symptoms or feelings. See 2 McCormick on Evid. §273 (7th ed.) 

(“[s]tatements of the declarant's present bodily condition and symptoms, including pain and 

other feelings, offered to prove the truth of the statements, have been generally recognized as an 

exception to the hearsay rule. Special reliability is provided by the spontaneous quality of the 

declarations, assured by the requirement that the declaration purport to describe a condition 

presently existing at the time of the statement.”) (emphasis added). The statement that Mr. 

Willard included, that “Mr. Moquin explained [to Mr. Willard] that Dr. Mar had diagnosed him 

with bipolar disorder” see Reply at ¶38, does not address Mr. Moquin’s then present physical 

condition or symptoms; instead that statement contains hearsay within hearsay, and is thus 

inadmissible under NRS 51.067. See also Opposition to Rule 60(b) Motion at p. 9, n.5. 

Accordingly Paragraphs 11, 14, 15, 16, 33 and 38 to Mr. Willard’s declaration should be 

stricken as containing hearsay or because they are speculative. 

 Other new exhibits attached to the Reply also contain inadmissible hearsay that should 

not be considered. Specifically, all of the texts and emails offered by Plaintiffs that were 

authored by Mr. Moquin or Mr. O’Mara constitute inadmissible hearsay under NRS 51.035 and 

51.065. Plaintiffs attempt to avoid this conclusion by arguing that such exhibits need not be 

admissible now, so long as they potentially could be admitted at some point in the future. 

Opposition at pp. 9-10. However, this is incorrect in a Rule 60(b) setting, as a party seeking to 

set aside an order pursuant to NRCP 60(b) “has the burden to prove mistake, inadvertence, 

surprise, or excusable neglect by a preponderance of the evidence.” Polivka v. Kuller, 128 Nev. 

926, 381 P.3d 651 (2012) (citations omitted); see also Stoecklein v. Johnson Electric, Inc., 109 
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Nev. 268, 271, 849 P.2d 305, 307 (1993) (district court’s discretion to grant a Rule 60(b) 

motion “is a legal discretion and cannot be sustained where there is no competent evidence to 

justify the court's action.”) (emphasis added).2 Plaintiffs have had their opportunity to present 

this Court with competent, admissible evidence to meet their burden of showing excusable 

neglect and have simply failed to do so. Accordingly, this Court should decline to consider all 

of Exhibit 3, the text messages authored by Mr. Moquin in Exhibit 4, the text messages 

authored by Mr. Moquin in Exhibit 7, the email authored by Mr. Moquin in Exhibit 8, and the 

emails authored by Mr. Moquin in Exhibit 10. 

 Finally, a number of the exhibits attached to the Reply should be stricken as irrelevant. 

Specifically, all of Mr. Willard’s statements in his Declaration after Paragraph 32 deal with 

incidents and/or communications that took place after this Court had issued its January 4, 2018 

Order. See Reply at Exhibit 1, ¶¶33-67, all of which detail events and communications from late 

January 2018 through late May 2018. Similarly, Exhibits 5-10 to the Reply contain only 

communications and descriptions of events that took place after this Court had already ruled on 

Defendants’ Motion for Sanctions. As such, they are simply not relevant to this Court’s 

determination of whether Plaintiffs have met their burden of proving excusable neglect under 

NRCP 60(b). 

 Plaintiffs’ arguments, that such exhibits were used to “debunk” Defendants’ arguments 

that Plaintiffs did not provide enough evidence of Mr. Moquin’s alleged condition and that 

Plaintiffs did nothing to fix the problems with their case, simply misses the boat. Anything that 

took place after this Court issued its Sanctions Order is wholly irrelevant, as that is the Order 

                                                 
2 Plaintiffs also claim that Defendants misstated two cases holding that hearsay statements 

cannot support a motion to set aside judgment. However, the cases were cited appropriately for 

that proposition. See Agnello v. Walker, 306 S.W.3d 666, 675 (Mo. App. 2010) (affirming the 

trial court’s exclusion of a hearsay letter from the movant’s prior counsel and holding that “as a 

matter of law, unsworn hearsay testimony or documentation cannot serve as the evidence 

necessary to meet movant’s burden of persuasion.”); New Image Industries, Inc. v. Rice, 603 

So.2d 895, 897 (Ala. 1992) (upholding trial court’s ruling that an affidavit was not sufficient to 

prove excusable neglect where the affidavit consisted of “inadmissible hearsay and 

speculation.”). 

 

A.App.4058

A.App.4058



 

Page 5 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

Plaintiffs are seeking to set aside through their Rule 60(b) Motion. Likewise, anything Plaintiffs 

did to try and fix the problems with their case after the issuance of the Sanctions Order is 

irrelevant to a consideration of excusable neglect. Plaintiffs must provide competent evidence 

explaining not only why their failure to oppose the sanctions motion was excusable, but also 

why their refusal to provide an NRCP 16.1 damages disclosure and an appropriate expert 

disclosure of Daniel Gluhaich was excusable. No evidence of events that occurred after the 

issuance of the Sanctions Order can possibly be relevant to those issues. 

 Accordingly, Defendants respectfully request that this Court enter an Order striking 

Exhibits 1-10 to Plaintiffs’ Reply in support of their Rule 60(b) Motion. In the alternative, 

Defendants request that this Court enter an Order allowing Defendants to file the Sur-Reply 

attached to the Motion to Strike/Motion for Leave as Exhibit 1.  

AFFIRMATION 

 Pursuant to NRS 239B.030, the undersigned does hereby affirm that the preceding 

document does not contain the social security number of any person. 

 

 DATED this 29th day of June, 2018. 

 

      DICKINSON WRIGHT, PLLC 

 

 

      _/s/ Brian R. Irvine ___________________ 
      JOHN P. DESMOND 

BRIAN R. IRVINE 
ANJALI D. WEBSTER 
Attorney for Defendants Berry Hinckley  
Industries, and Jerry Herbst 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I certify that I am an employee of DICKINSON WRIGHT PLLC, and that on this date, 

pursuant to NRCP 5(b); I am serving a true and correct copy of the attached REPLY IN 

SUPPORT OF MOTION TO STRIKE, OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE, MOTION FOR 

LEAVE TO FILE SUR-REPLY on the parties through the Second Judicial District Court’s E-

Flex filing system to the following: 

 
Richard D. Williamson, Esq. 

Jonathan Joel Tew, Esq. 

ROBERTSON, JOHNSON, MILLER & 

WILLIAMSON  

50 West Liberty Street, Suite 600  

Reno, Nevada 89501  

Attorneys for Plaintiffs/Counterdefendants 

 

Brian P. Moquin 

LAW OFFICES OF BRIAN P. MOQUIN 

3287 Ruffino Lane 

San Jose, California 95148 

 

DATED this 29th day of June, 2018. 

 

 

   /s/ Mina Reel    

An employee of DICKINSON WRIGHT PLLC 

A.App.4060

A.App.4060





F I L E D
Electronically
CV14-01712

2018-11-30 04:08:13 PM
Jacqueline Bryant
Clerk of the Court

Transaction # 7001598

A.App.4061

A.App.4061



A.App.4062

A.App.4062



A.App.4063

A.App.4063



A.App.4064

A.App.4064



A.App.4065

A.App.4065



A.App.4066

A.App.4066



A.App.4067

A.App.4067



A.App.4068

A.App.4068



A.App.4069

A.App.4069



A.App.4070

A.App.4070



A.App.4071

A.App.4071



A.App.4072

A.App.4072



A.App.4073

A.App.4073



A.App.4074

A.App.4074



A.App.4075

A.App.4075



A.App.4076

A.App.4076



A.App.4077

A.App.4077



A.App.4078

A.App.4078



A.App.4079

A.App.4079



A.App.4080

A.App.4080



A.App.4081

A.App.4081



A.App.4082

A.App.4082



A.App.4083

A.App.4083



A.App.4084

A.App.4084



A.App.4085

A.App.4085



A.App.4086

A.App.4086



A.App.4087

A.App.4087



A.App.4088

A.App.4088



A.App.4089

A.App.4089



A.App.4090

A.App.4090



A.App.4091

A.App.4091



A.App.4092

A.App.4092





 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

2540 

DICKINSON WRIGHT, PLLC 

JOHN P. DESMOND 
Nevada Bar No. 5618 
BRIAN R. IRVINE 
Nevada Bar No. 7758 
ANJALI D. WEBSTER 
Nevada Bar No. 12515 
100 West Liberty Street, Suite 940 
Reno, NV 89501 
Tel: (775) 343-7500 
Fax: (775) 786-0131 
Email: Jdesmond@dickinsonwright.com 
Email: Birvine@dickinsonwright.com 
Email: Awebster@dickinsonwright.com 
 
Attorney for Berry Hinckley Industries and Jerry Herbst 
 

IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 
 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE 
 

_________________________________________ 
LARRY J. WILLARD, individually and as 
trustee of the Larry James Willard Trust Fund; 
OVERLAND DEVELOPMENT 
CORPORATION, a California corporation; 
EDWARD E. WOOLEY AND JUDITH A. 
WOOLEY, individually and as trustees of the 
Edward C. Wooley and Judith A. Wooley 
Intervivos Revocable Trust 2000, 
 
 

Plaintiffs, 
vs. 
 
BERRY-HINCKLEY INDUSTRIES, a Nevada 
corporation; and JERRY HERBST, an 
Individual; 
 
                                    Defendants. 
______________________________________/ 
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BERRY-HINCKLEY INDUSTRIES, a 
Nevada corporation; and JERRY HERBST, 
 an individual; 
 

Counterclaimants, 
vs 
 
LARRY J. WILLARD, individually and as 
trustee of the Larry James Willard Trust Fund;  
OVERLAND DEVELOPMENT 
CORPORATION, a California corporation; 
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Counter-defendants. 

_____________________________________/                                  

 

NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER 

 PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on November 30, 2018, an Order was entered in the 

above-captioned matter denying Plaintiffs’ Rule 60(b) Motion for Relief. A true and correct 

copy of the order is attached hereto as Exhibit 1. 

AFFIRMATION 

 Pursuant to NRS 239B.030, the undersigned does hereby affirm that the preceding 

document does not contain the social security number of any person. 

 

 DATED this 3rd day of December, 2018. 

 

      DICKINSON WRIGHT, PLLC 

 

 

      _/s/ Brian R. Irvine ___________________ 
      JOHN P. DESMOND 

Nevada Bar No. 5618 
BRIAN R. IRVINE 
Nevada Bar No. 7758 
ANJALI D. WEBSTER 
Nevada Bar No. 12515 
100 West Liberty Street, Suite 940 
Reno, NV 89501 
Tel: (775) 343-7500 
Fax: (775) 786-0131 
Email: Jdesmond@dickinsonwright.com 
Email: Birvine@dickinsonwright.com 
Email: Awebster@dickinsonwright.com 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I certify that I am an employee of DICKINSON WRIGHT PLLC, and that on this date, 

pursuant to NRCP 5(b); I am serving a true and correct copy of the attached NOTICE OF 

ENTRY OF ORDER on the parties through the Second Judicial District Court’s E-Flex filing 

system to the following: 

 
Richard D. Williamson, Esq. 

Jonathan Joel Tew, Esq. 

ROBERTSON, JOHNSON, MILLER & 

WILLIAMSON  

50 West Liberty Street, Suite 600  

Reno, Nevada 89501  

Attorneys for Plaintiffs/Counterdefendants 

 

Brian P. Moquin 

LAW OFFICES OF BRIAN P. MOQUIN 

3287 Ruffino Lane 

San Jose, California 95148 

 

DATED this 3rd day of December, 2018. 

 

 

   /s/ Mina Reel    

An employee of DICKINSON WRIGHT PLLC 
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EXHIBIT TABLE 
 

Exhibit Description Pages1 
1 November 30, 2018, Order 32 

 

                                                 
1 Exhibit page counts are exclusive of exhibit slip sheets. 
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IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE 

LARRY J. WILLARD, individually and as 
trustee of the Larry James Willard Trust Fund; 
OVERLAND DEVELOPMENT 
CORPORATION, a California corporation; 
EDWARD E. WOOLEY AND JUDITH A. 

CASE NO. CV14-01712 

10 
WOOLEY, individually and as trustees of the 
Edward C. Wooley and Judith A. Wooley 
lntervivos Revocable Trust 2000, 

11 

DEPT. 6 

ORDER DENYING 
PLAINTIFFS' RULE 60(b) 
MOTION FOR RELIEF 12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

Plaintiffs, 
vs. 

BERRY-HINCKLEY INDUSTRIES, a Nevada 
corporation; and JERRY HERBST, an 
Individual; 

Defendants. _________________ / 

BERRY-HINCKLEY INDUSTRIES, a 
Nevada corporation; and JERRY HERBST, 
an individual; 

Counterclaimants, 
20 vs 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

LARRY J. WILLARD, individually and as 
trustee of the Larry James Willard Trust Fund; 
OVERLAND DEVELOPMENT 
CORPORATION, a California corporation; 

Counter-defendants1. 

I -----------------

1 On April 13, 2018, this Court entered its Order of Dismissal of Claims of Wooley Plaintiffs with 
Prejudice. On the same date, this Court entered its Order Granting Defendants/ 
Counterclaimants' Motion to Dismiss Counterclaims. All counterclaims were dismissed by said 
Order. 
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ORDER DENYING PLAINTIFFS' RULE 60(b) MOTION FOR RELIEF 

Before this Court is Plaintiffs' Rule 60(b) Motion for Relief ("Rule 60(b) Motion") 

filed by PLAINTIFFS LARRY J. WILLARD, INDIVIDUALLY AND AS TRUSTEE OF THE 

LARRY JAMES WILLARD TRUST FUND AND OVERLAND DEVELOPMENT 

CORPORATION, A CALIFORNIA CORPORATION (collectively, "Willard" or the 

"Plaintiffs"), by and through counsel, Robertson, Johnson, Miller & Williamson.2 By 

their Rule 60(b) Motion, Plaintiffs seek, pursuant to NRCP 60(b), to set aside: (a) this 

Court's January 4, 2018, Order Granting Defendants/Counterclaimants' Motion to Strike 

and/or Motion in Limine to Exclude the Expert Testimony of Daniel Gluhaich; (b) this 

Court's January 4, 2018, Order Granting Defendants' Motion for Sanctions; and (c) this 

Court's March 6, 2018, Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order on Defendants' 

Motion for Sanctions. 

Thereafter, DEFENDANTS BERRY-HINCKLEY INDUSTRIES ("BHI") AND 

JERRY HERBST (collectively, "Defendants"), filed their Opposition to Rule 60(b) Motion 

for Relief, by and through their counsel, Dickinson Wright, PLLC. 

Plaintiffs then filed their Reply in Support of the Willard Plaintiffs Rule 60(b) 

Motion for Relief and the parties set the matter for hearing. 

This Court carefully considered the papers submitted, the arguments of counsel, 

the entire court file herein, and is fully advised in the premises, and enters its order as 

23 follows. 

24 

25 

26 2 Plaintiffs' former local counsel was David O'Mara of the O'Mara Law Firm, P.C. Mr. O'Mara 
filed a Notice of Withdrawal of Local Counsel ("Notice'?, on March 15, 2018. Brian Moquin 

27 remains counsel of record as he has not withdrawn; however, he is not indicated as counsel 
filing the Rule 60(b) Motion. 

28 
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FINDINGS OF FACT 

The Court makes the following Findings of Fact: 

Plaintiffs' Complaint 

1. On August 8, 2014, Plaintiffs commenced this action by filing their 

Complaint against Defendants. 3 Complaint, generally. 

2. By way of their Complaint and subsequent First Amended Complaint, 

Plaintiffs sought the following damages against Defendants for an alleged breach of the 

lease between Willard and BHI: (1) "rental income" for $19,443,836.94, discounted by 

4% per the lease to $15,741,360.75 as of March 1, 2013; and (2) certain property­

related damages, such as insurance and installation of a security fence. First Amended 

Complaint ("FAG"), generally. 

3. Willard also sought several other categories of damages which have since 

been dismissed or withdrawn. May 30, 2017, Order. 

Plaintiffs' Failure to Comply with the Nevada 
Rules of Civil Procedure and this Court's Orders 

4. Plaintiffs failed to provide a compliant damages disclosure in this action. 

5. Plaintiffs failed to provide a damages computation in their initial 

disclosures, as required under NRCP 16.1 (a)(1)(C). Findings of Fact, Conclusions of 

Law, and Order on Defendants' Motion for Sanctions (" Sanctions Order') 1J 12, and 

failed to provide damages computations at any time despite numerous demands on 

both Mr. Moquin and Mr. O'Mara. Sanctions Order,I,I 14-16, 25, 27-33, 39, 43-44 and 

51-54. 

3 Willard filed the initial complaint jointly with Edward E. Wooley and Judith A. Wooley, 
individually and as Trustees of the Edward C. Wooley and Judith A. Wooley lntervivos 
Revocable Trust 2000 (collectively, "Wooley"). However, Defendants and Wooley entered into a 
settlement agreement and stipulation for dismissal. This Court entered its Order on April 13, 
2018 dismissing Wooley's claims with prejudice. 
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6. Plaintiffs failed to provide complete and adequate responses to 

interrogatories requesting information about Plaintiffs' damages in the normal course of 

discovery. 

7. Plaintiffs failed to provide complete and adequate responses to 

interrogatories in violation of this Court's Order Granting Defendants' Motion to Compel 

and failed to comply with this Court's Order ("January Hearing Order') issued after the 

parties discussed Plaintiffs' failure to provide damages computations at the January 10, 

2017 hearing attended by Mr. Moquin, Mr. O'Mara and Mr. Willard. Sanctions Order 

111117-25. 

8. The January Hearing Order required Plaintiffs to provide damages 

computations and supporting materials. Sanctions OrderW 46-49, 54, 59-64 and 67-68; 

Defendants' Opposition Plaintiffs' Rule 60(b) Motion, Ex. 2, Transcript of January 10, 

2017 Hearing at pp. 61-63 and 68; January Hearing Order. 

9. Plaintiffs failed to properly disclose Daniel Gluhaich as an expert witness 

as required by NRCP 16.1 (a)(2). Sanctions Order111134-37. 

10. In contravention of this Court's January Hearing Order, Plaintiffs failed to 

provide an amended disclosure of Mr. Gluhaich, although Defendants' counsel made 

multiple requests. Sanctions Order 1111 38-45, 1111 50-64. 

Plaintiffs' Summary Judgment Motion 

11. Pursuant to the February 9, 2017, Stipulation and Order to Continue Trial, 

discovery closed in mid-November, 2017. 

12. On October 18, 2017, less than a month before the close of discovery, 

Plaintiffs filed their Motion for Summary Judgment asserting they were entitled, as a 
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matter of law, to more than triple the amount of damages alleged in and requested by 

their First Amended Complaint. Sanctions Orderfflf 69 and 73. 

13. The damages asserted in Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment were 

not previously disclosed. The motion was also supported by previously undisclosed 

expert opinions and documents. Sanctions Order,r,r 74-79. 

14. On November 13, 2017, Defendants filed their Opposition to Plaintiffs' 

Motion for Summary Judgment. 

15. Plaintiffs' did not submit the Motion for Summary Judgment for decision. 

Defendants' Motion to Strike and/or Motion in Limine to Exclude 
the Expert Testimony of Daniel Gluhaich and Motion for Sanctions 

16. On November 14, 2017, Defendants filed their Motion to Strike and/or 

Motion in Limine to Exclude the Expert Testimony of Daniel Gluhaich ("Motion to 

Strike"). 

17. In the Motion to Strike, Defendants maintained this Court should preclude 

Plaintiffs from offering Mr. Gluhaich's testimony on the grounds: (a) Plaintiffs failed to 

adequately disclose Mr. Gluhaich as an expert because they failed to provide "a 

summary of the facts and opinions to which the witness is expected to testify" as 

required by NRCP 16.1 (a)(2)(B); (b) the opinions offered by Mr. Gluhaich in support of 

Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment were based upon inadmissible hearsay and 

were based solely on the opinions of others; and (c) Mr. Gluhaich was not qualified to 

offer the opinions included in his Declaration attached to and filed in support of 

Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment. 

18. On November 15, 2017, Defendants filed their Motion for Sanctions 

("Sanctions Motion'). 
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19. In the Sanctions Motion, Defendants argued this Court should sanction 

Plaintiffs for their continued and intentional conduct in failing to comply with the Nevada 

Rules of Civil Procedure and this Court's orders requiring Plaintiffs to provide damages 

computations and full and adequate expert disclosures, and dismiss Plaintiffs' claims 

with prejudice, or, in the alternative, preclude Plaintiffs from seeking new damages or 

relying upon their undisclosed expert and appraisals. 

20. Defendants agreed to give Plaintiffs' several extensions of time to oppose 

the Motion to Strike and Sanctions Motion, but no oppositions were filed. 

21. On December 6, 2017, Plaintiffs requested relief from the Court by 

extension to respond until "December 7, 2017 at 4:29 p.m." Sanctions Order,i 94; 

Plaintiffs' Request for a Brief Extension of Time ("Brief Extension Request'?, generally. 

22. This Court held a status conference on December 12, 2017, attended by 

Defendants' counsel and Plaintiffs' counsel, Mr. Moquin and Mr. O'Mara. At the status 

conference, after observing Mr. Moquin, having significant dialog with Mr. Moquin, and 

over vehement objection by the Defendants' counsel, this Court granted Plaintiffs' Brief 

Extension Request plus granted more time than that requested. The Court directed 

Plaintiffs to respond to the outstanding motions no later than Monday, December 18, 

2017, at 10:00 am. Sanctions Order,i 95. 

23. Tis Court further directed Defendants to file their reply briefs no later than 

January 8, 2018. The Court set the parties' outstanding Motions for oral argument on 

January 12, 2018. Sanctions Order,i 96. 

II 

II 
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1 
24. This Court admonished Plaintiffs, stating "you need to know going into 

2 these oppositions, that I'm very seriously considering granting all of it ... I haven't 

3 decided it, but I need to see compelling opposition not to grant it." Opposition to Rule 

4 60(b) Motion, Ex. 3, December 12, 2017, Transcript of Status Conference, in part. 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

25. Plaintiffs did not file an opposition or response to the Motion to Strike or 

Motion for Sanctions by December 18, 2017 or any time thereafter, nor did Plaintiffs 

request any further extension. 

26. This Court entered its Order Granting Defendants'/Counterclaimants' 

1 o Motion to Strike and/or Motion in Limine to Exclude the Expert Testimony of Daniel 

11 Gluhaich on January 4, 2018 ("Order Granting Motion to Strike'?. 
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27. This Court entered its Order Granting Defendants'/Counterclaimants' 

Motion for Sanctions on January 4, 2018 ("Order Granting Sanctions'?. 

28. This Court entered its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order on 

Defendants' Motion for Sanctions on March 6, 2018. (" Sanctions Order'J4 

Withdrawal of Local Counsel 

29. Mr. O'Mara's Notice of Withdrawal of Local Counsel, ("Notice'? filed 

March 15, 2018, states, "Mr. Moquin was unresponsive during the time in which this 

Court was deciding the pending motions, even after counsel begged him for a 

response to be filed with the Court and was told he would provide such a response." 

Notice, 1. 

4 The Order Granting Sanctions ordered sanctions and directed Defendants to "submit a 
Proposed Order granting Defendants1/Counterclaimants' Motion for Sanctions, including factual 
and legal analysis and discussion, to Department 6 within twenty (20) days of the date of this 
Order in accordance with WDCR 9." Order Granting Sanctions, 4. For purposes of the instant 
motion, the Court considers the Order Granting Sanctions and Sanctions Order, as one for 
purposes of the analysis herein. 
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30. The Notice describes the terms of retention of Mr. O'Mara as, 

"Undersigned Counsel was retained solely as local counsel, and provided Mr. Moquin 

with the necessary information related to the Court's filing requirement and timelines. 

Undersigned Counsel was retained only to provide services as directed by Mr. Moquin, 

and would be relieved of services if Mr. Moquin was removed." Notice, 1. 

Plaintiffs' Rule 60(bJ Motion 

31. On March 26, 2018, Robertson, Johnson, Miller & Williamson filed a 

notice of appearance on behalf of Plaintiffs. 

32. On April 18, 2018, Plaintiffs filed the Rule 60(b) Motion. In the Rule 60(b) 

Motion. Plaintiffs argue this Court should set aside its Order Granting the Motion to 

Strike, Order Granting Sanctions, and Sanctions Order, based upon Mr. Moquin's 

excusable neglect. Plaintiff's further argue the underlying Sanctions Order was 

insufficient under Young v. Johnny Ribeiro, 106 Nev. 88, 787 P.2d 777 (1990) because 

the Court did not consider whether sanctions unfairly operate to penalize Plaintiffs for 

the misconduct of their attorney. 

33. Plaintiffs argue their failure to provide the damages computations and 

adequate expert disclosures, as required by both the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure 

and this Court's orders, as well as their failure to file oppositions to the Motion to Strike 

and Motion for Sanctions were all due to Mr. Moquin failing "to properly prosecute this 

case due to a serious mental illness and a personal life that was apparently in 

shambles." Rule 60(b) Motion, 1. 
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34. The Rule 60(b) Motion purports to support its arguments primarily through 

2 the Declaration of Larry J. Willard. Rule 60(b) Motion, Ex. 1 ("Willard Declaration" and 

3 "WO" in citations to the record)5. 
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35. The Willard Declaration includes several statements about Mr. Moquin's 

alleged mental disorder. It states Mr. Willard is "convinced" Mr. Moquin was dealing 

with issues and demons beyond his control. WO ,I 66. It further states he "learned" 

that Mr. Moquin was struggling with constant marital conflict that greatly interfered with 

his work. WO ,I 67. The Willard Declaration states Mr. Moquin suffered a "total mental 

breakdown." WO ,I 68. It states Mr. Moquin explained to Mr. Willard he had been 

diagnosed with bipolar disorder. WO ,I 70. He declares he believes Mr. Moquin's 

disorder to be "severe and debilitating." WO ,I 73. He states he now sees "that Mr. 

Moquin was suffering from [symptoms of bipolar disorder] throughout his work on the 

case." WO ,I 76. And, Mr. Willard declares he can now see how Mr. Moquin's alleged 

psychological issues affected Plaintiffs' case. WO ,I 87 (emphasis supplied). 

36. The Rule 60(b) Motion also includes an internet printout purporting to list 

symptoms of bipolar disorder (Rule 60(b) Motion, Ex. 5), and several documents 

related to alleged spousal abuse by Mr. Moquin, some of which reference Mr. Moquin's 

alleged bipolar disorder, and which include an Emergency Protective Order from a 

California proceeding (Rule 60(b) Motion, Ex. 6), a Pre-Booking Information Sheet from 

a California proceeding (Rule 60(b) Motion, Ex. 7) and a Request for Domestic 

Violence Restraining Order, also from a California proceeding (Rule 60(b) Motion, 

5 The Willard Declaration includes paragraphs discussing the underlying facts of the action and 
the initial filing of the suit in California. These paragraphs are not relevant to the Court's 
determination of the Rule 60(b) Motion and are not considered. See e.g., WD fflf 1-51, 100. 
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Ex. 8). The documents from the California proceedings are not certified by the clerk of 

the court. 

37. Defendants filed their Opposition to Rule 60(b) Motion Relief on May 18, 

4 2018 ("Opposition"). 
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38. Plaintiffs filed their Reply in Support of the Willard Plaintiffs' Rule 60(b) 

Motion on May 29, 2018 ("Reply'?. The Reply attached eleven (11) new exhibits, 

including the new Declaration of Larry J. Willard in Response to Defendants' 

Opposition to Rule 60(b) Motion for Relief. Reply, Ex. 1 ("Reply Willard Declaration" 

and "RWD" for citations). 6 The Reply's exhibits include copies of text messages 

between Mr. Willard and Mr. Moquin (Reply, Ex. 2, 4 and 7), copies of emails between 

Mr. Willard and his counsel (Reply, Ex. 3, 6, 8 and 10), a receipt detailing an alleged 

payment made by Mr. Willard to Mr. Moquin's doctor on March 13, 2018 (Reply, Ex. 5), 

and a letter from Mr. Williamson to Mr. Moquin dated May 14, 2018 (Reply, Ex. 9). 

39. On June 6, 2018, Defendants filed their Motion to Strike, or in the 

Alternative, Motion for Leave to File Sur-Reply, arguing this Court should strike Exhibits 

1-10 to the Reply because: (a) Defendants did not have the opportunity to respond to 

those exhibits in their Opposition to the Rule 60(b) Motion; (b) exhibits contained 

inadmissible hearsay and/or inadmissible lay opinion testimony; and (c) a number of 

exhibits were not relevant to this Court's determination of excusable neglect. 

40. Defendants' Motion to Strike, or in the Alternative, Motion for Leave to 

File Sur-Reply was fully-briefed and submitted to this Court for decision on June 29, 

27 6 The Court disregards the paragraphs included in the Willard Declaration and the Reply Willard 
Declaration that can be construed to be stated appeal to the Court's sympathy. See e.g., WO ,r 

28 91 -100; RWD ,I67 
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2018. Subsequently, Plaintiffs' counsel stipulated to the filing of a sur-reply. No sur­

reply was filed by Defendants. 

41. In its Sanctions Order, the Court made the following findings of fact and 

conclusions of law, among others: First, Plaintiffs failed to provide damages disclosures 

and failed to properly disclose an expert witness in violation of this Court's express 

Orders. Sanctions Orderffll 67, 68. Plaintiffs acknowledged their failure to properly 

disclose an expert witness in accordance with NRCP 16.1 (a)(2)(B). Stipulation and 

Order, February 9, 2017. Plaintiffs did not thereafter attempt to properly disclose the 

expert witness for the entirety of 2017. Plaintiffs failed to comply with multiple orders of 

this Court. Thereafter, Defendants filed several motions to compel and Plaintiffs' non­

compliance forced extension of trial and discovery deadlines on three separate 

occasions. This Court sanctioned Plaintiffs by ordering payment of Defendants' 

expenses incurred in filing the Motion to Compel. 

42. Plaintiffs did not oppose the Sanctions Motion despite this Court's 

express admonitions that the Court was "seriously considering" dismissal. 

43. If any of the following Conclusions of Law contain or may be construed to 

contain Findings of Fact, they are incorporated here and shall be treated as 

appropriately identified and designated. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

Based on the Court's Findings of Fact, the Court makes its Conclusions of Law 

as follows. 

1. If any the foregoing Findings of Fact contain or may be construed to 

26 contain Conclusions of Law, they are incorporated here and shall be treated as 

27 appropriately identified and designated. 

28 
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Rule 60(b) Standard 

2. Under NRCP 60(b)(1 ), on motion, this Court may relieve a party from an 

3 order or final judgment7 on grounds of mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable 

4 neglect. NRCP 60(b)(1). 
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3. A party who seeks to set aside an order pursuant to NRCP 60(b)(1) "has 

the burden to prove mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect by a 

preponderance of the evidence." Polivka v. Kuller, 128 Nev. 926, 381 P.3d 651 (2012) 

(citations omitted); see also Britz v. Consolidated Casinos Corp., 87 Nev. 441, 446, 488 

P.2d 911, 915 (1971) ("'[t]he burden of proof on [a motion to set aside under Rule 60(b)] 

is on the moving party who must establish his position by a preponderance of the 

evidence."') (quoting Luz v. Lopes, 55 Cal.2d 54, 10 Cal.Rptr. 161,166,358 P.2d 289, 

294 (1960)). 

The Rule 60(b) Motion is not Supported by 
Competent, Admissible and Substantial Evidence. 

4. Plaintiffs' ground asserted to set aside the Order Granting Defendants' 

Motion to Strike, Order Granting the Motion for Sanctions, and Sanctions Order8 is Mr. 

Moquin "failed to properly prosecute this case due to a serious mental illness and a 

personal life that was apparently in shambles." Rule 60(b) Motion, 1. 

5. While this Court "has wide discretion in deciding whether to grant or deny 

22 a motion to set aside a judgment under NRCP 60(b)," Stoecklein v. Johnson Electric, 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

7 This Court entered its Order re Request for Entry of Judgment on June 4, 2018, declining to 
enter judgment as the Court deemed it appropriate to consider the Rule 60(b) Motion on the 
underlying Sanctions Order. 

8 Plaintiffs argue that the Sanctions Order was insufficient under Young v. Johnny Ribeiro, 106 
Nev. 88, 93, 787 P.2d 777, 780 (1990) because the Sanctions Order did not consider "whether 
sanctions unfairly operate to penalize a party for the misconduct of his or her attorney." Rule 
60(b) Motion, 12. This is addressed by the Court hereinafter. 
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Inc., 109 Nev. 268,271,849 P.2d 305,307 (1993), "this discretion is a legal discretion 

and cannot be sustained where there is no competent evidence to justify the court's 

action." Id. (emphasis added) (citing Lukey v. Thomas, 75 Nev. 20, 22, 333 P.2d 979 

(1959)); see also Otak Nev., LLC v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 129 Nev. 799, 805, 312 

P.3d 491, 496 (2013) (holding a court abuses its discretion when its decision is not 

supported by substantial evidence; substantial evidence "defined as that which a 

reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion" (internal quotation 

marks omitted)). 

6. The Rule 60(b) Motion purports to provide substantial evidence to support 

11 its legal argument through the Willard Declaration and the Reply Willard Declaration 

12 together with the attached exhibits, all of which contain statements and documents that 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

are inadmissible, and in some instances, inadmissible on multiple grounds. 

7. The Willard Declaration includes several statements about Mr. Moquin's 

alleged mental disorder. As set forth in the Findings of Fact, supra, Mr. Willard declares 

he is "convinced" Mr. Moquin was dealing with issues and demons beyond his control 

(WO 1J 66); he "learned" Mr. Moquin was struggling with constant marital conflict that 

greatly interfered with his work (WD 1J 67; RWD 1J 15); Mr. Moquin suffered a "total 

mental breakdown" (WO 1J 68; RWD 1J16); Mr. Moquin explained to Mr. Willard he had 

been diagnosed with bipolar disorder (WO 1J 70; RWD ,I 37); Mr. Willard believes Mr. 

Moquin's disorder to be "severe and debilitating" (WO 1J 73); Mr. Willard now sees "that 

Mr. Moquin was suffering from [symptoms of bipolar disorder] throughout his work on 
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the case (WO 1J 76); and, Mr. Willard can now see how Mr. Moquin's alleged 

psychological issues affected his case (WO 1J 87).9 

8. The Willard Declaration addresses Mr. Moquin's private life, including his 

4 personal mental status and the conflict in his marriage. 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

9. Mr. Willard statements are not all based on his own perceptions. 

10. It logically follows, based on the subject matter, Mr. Willard could not have 

credibly obtained this information by observing it. 

11. Mr. Willard lacks personal knowledge to testify to the assertions included 

1 o in the Willard Declaration and the Reply Willard Declaration regarding Mr. Moquin's 

11 mental disorder, private personal life, and private marital conflicts. 
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12. It further logically follows, Mr. Willard could only have obtained this 

information by communication from Mr. Moquin (or Mr. Moquin's wife), although he doe 

not overtly state this. 

9 The Willard Declaration and the Reply Willard Declaration contain many nearly identical 
statements. They compare as follows: 

Williard Reply Willard 
Declaration Declaration 
Paragraph Paragraph 
53 7 
54 8 
59 9 
63 11 
64 12 (slightly differs) 
65 13 
67 15 
68 16 
69 35 
70 38 
71 39 
82 10 (Similar - not exact) 
89 3 
91 67 
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13. The Willard Declaration and Reply Willard Declaration include 

inadmissible hearsay and under NRS 51.035 and 51.065. See Agnello v. Walker, 306 

S.W.3d 666, 675 (Mo. App. 2010), as modified, (Apr. 27, 2018) (hearsay testimony or 

documentation cannot serve as the evidence necessary to meet movant's burden of 

persuasion to set aside judgment under Rule 60); New Image Indus. v. Rice, 603 So.2d 

895, 897 (Ala. 1992) (affirming trial court's refusal to grant Rule 60 relief where the only 

evidence of excusable neglect was an affidavit containing inadmissible hearsay and 

speculation). 

14. Separate and apart from the challenge to the Willard Declaration and the 

Reply Willard Declaration on hearsay grounds, Mr. Willard's statements are also 

speculative and therefore inadmissible. He does not declare he personally observed 

Mr. Moquin's alleged condition until he draws this unqualified conclusion late in the 

case, and, even if he had, he speculates what the mental disorder could cause and 

caused, offering an internet article to boost his credibility, which is also hearsay with no 

applicable exception offered. 

15. The assertion describing Mr. Moquin's statement to Mr. Willard that Dr. 

Mar diagnosed Mr. Moquin with bipolar disorder (WO 1169; RWD 1135) is inadmissible 

hearsay with no exception under NRS 51.105(1) because the Mr. Willard's declaration 

does not constitute Mr. Moquin's declaration of "then existing state of mind, emotion, 

sensation or physical condition, such as intent, plan, motive, design, mental feeling, 

pain and bodily health." Instead, Dr. Mar, purportedly diagnosed Mr. Moquin; Mr. 

Moquin told Mr. Willard of Dr. Mar's purported diagnosis; and Mr. Willard makes the 

statement of Mr. Moquin's diagnosis. The statements were not spontaneous and 

instead were a basis for Mr. Moquin to request monetary assistance. 
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16. Even if it is construed that Mr. Moquin's report of Dr. Mar's diagnosis 

constituted Mr. Moquin's statement of then existing mental condition. Mr. Willard's 

statements are not admissible as contemporaneous statements Mr. Moquin made about 

his own present physical symptoms or feelings. See 2 McCormick on Evid. §273 (7th 

ed.) ("[s]tatements of the declarant's present bodily condition and symptoms, including 

pain and other feelings, offered to prove the truth of the statements, have been 

generally recognized as an exception to the hearsay rule. Special reliability is provided 

by the spontaneous quality of the declarations, assured by the requirement that the 

declaration purport to describe a condition presently existing at the time of the 

statement."). No spontaneous statement of Mr. Moquin, as the declarant, were offered. 

17. The Willard Declaration and the Reply Willard Declaration also contains 

hearsay within hearsay, which is inadmissible under NRS 51.067. 

18. Mr. Willard also purports to declare Mr. Moquin had a complete mental 

breakdown, how Mr. Moquin's symptoms of his alleged bipolar disorder might manifest, 

and how those symptoms may have affected Mr. Moquin's work. WO ffll 68, 73-76 and 

87-88; RWD ,i 16, 38. 

19. These statements are inadmissible as impermissible lay opinion under 

NRS 50.265. Mr. Willard is not a licensed health care provider qualified to opine on Mr. 

Moquin's mental condition, mental disorder, or symptoms of any disorder or condition 

that manifested. 

20. Mr. Willard surmises, speculates and draws conclusions. He is not 

qualified to testify about what medical, physical, or mental condition Mr. Moquin may 

have, or the effect of that condition on his work. White v. Com, 616 S.E.2d 49, 54, 46 

Va. App. 123, 134 (2005) ("While lay witnesses may testify to the attitude and demeano 
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of the defendant, lay witnesses cannot express an opinion as to the existence of a 

particular mental disease or condition.") (Citations omitted). 

21. Plaintiffs contend Mr. Willard's opinions of how Mr. Moquin's alleged 

condition might manifest with symptoms and how those symptoms may have affected 

Mr. Moquin's work are appropriate because "lay witnesses can offer testimony as to a 

person's sanity." Reply, 2. Plaintiffs cite Criswell v. State, 84 Nev. 459, 464, 443 P.2d 

552, 555 (1968) for the proposition that lay witnesses can offer testimony as to a 

person's sanity. However, Criswell was overruled in 2001. See Finger v. State, 117 Nev. 

548, 576-77, 27 P.3d 66, 85 (2001) (en bane decision regarding the legal insanity 

defense and statutorily created "guilty, but mentally ill plea" and holding the legislative 

abolishment of insanity as a complete defense to a criminal offense unconstitutional, 

among other holdings, including that lay witnesses cannot testify as to "insanity" 

because the term has a precise and narrow definition under Nevada law). 

22. The Court concludes the Finger holdings are not applicable here. First, 

the Finger case involves a defense to criminal charges. Second, Mr. Willard did not 

testify that Mr. Moquin was sane or insane; he testified about the diagnosis of bipolar 

disorder, possible symptoms of bipolar disorder and how those symptoms, if present, 

might have affected Mr. Moquin's work. 

23. The Nevada Revised Statutes (Evidence Code) provides: 

A lay witness may testify to opinions or inferences that are "[r]ationally 
based on the perception of the witness; and ... [h]elpful to a clear 
understanding of the testimony of the witness or the determination of a 
fact in issue." NRS 50.265. A qualified expert may testify to matters within 
their "special knowledge, skill, experience, training or education" when 
"scientific, technical or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of 
fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue. 
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NRS 50.275; Burnside v. State, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 40, _, 352 P.3d 627, 636 

( death penalty case detective allowed to testify about cell phone records as lay 

witness). Further, 

Id. 

[t]he key to determining whether testimony constitutes lay or expert 
testimony lies with a careful consideration of the substance of the 
testimony-does the testimony concern information within the common 
knowledge of or capable of perception by the average layperson or does it 
require some specialized knowledge or skill beyond the realm of everyday 
experience? See Randolph v. Collectramatic, Inc., 590 F.2d 844, 846 
(10th Cir.1979) ( observing that lay witness may not express opinion "as to 
matters which are beyond the realm of common experience and which 
require the special skill and knowledge of an expert witness"); Fed.R.Evid. 
701 advisory committee's note (2000 amend.) ("[T]he distinction between 
lay and expert witness testimony is that lay testimony results from a 
process of reasoning familiar in everyday life, while expert testimony 
results from a process of reasoning which can be mastered only by 
specialists in the field." (internal quotation marks omitted)); State v. 
Tierney, 150 N.H. 339, 839 A.2d 38, 46 (2003) ("Lay testimony must be 
confined to personal observations that any layperson would be capable of 
making."). 

24. While the Nevada Supreme Court and Court of Appeals have not 

addressed lay witness testimony, such as that contained in the Willard Declaration and 

Reply Willard Declaration, regarding bipolar disorder, this has been specifically 

addressed by the Pennsylvania court and is persuasive here. In the case of In re 

Petition for Involuntary Commitment of Joseph R. Barbour, the Superior Court of 

Pennsylvania held, "Lay witness and non-expert could not provide expert testimony 

regarding involuntary committee's medical diagnosis, specifically the existence of mood 

disorder known as bipolar disorder." In re Petition for Involuntary Commitment of 

Joseph R. Barbour, 733 A.2d 1286 (PA. 1999). This Court therefore concludes such 

testimony is inadmissible to support the Rule 60(b) Motion. 

17 

A.App.4115

A.App.4115



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

25. The documents attached as Exhibits 6, 7 and 8 to the Rule 60(b) Motion, 

which purport to detail Mr. Moquin's alleged domestic abuse of his family, and which 

also contain statements about Mr. Moquin's alleged bipolar condition, are inadmissible 

as discussed, supra, with regard to bipolar disorder. 

26. Exhibits 6, 7 and 8 to the Rule 60(b) Motion are not, and cannot be, 

authenticated by Mr. Willard. Mr. Willard is not the author of the documents and has no 

personal knowledge of their authenticity. He therefore cannot authenticate or identify 

the documents pursuant to NRS 52.015(1) or NRS 52.025. 

27. Exhibits 6, 7 and 8 do not meet the requirements for presumed 

authenticity under NRS 52.125, as the exhibits are not certified copies of public records. 

28. Pursuant to NRS 47.150, a judge or court may take judicial notice, 

whether requested to or not. Further, a judge or court shall take judicial notice if 

requested by a party and supplied with the necessary information. NRS 47.150. Here, 

no party requested this Court to take judicial notice of the California court records 

contained in the exhibits Exhibit 6 to the Rule 60(b) Motion and the Reply based on 

certified copies. The Court exercises its discretion and declines to take judicial notice 

here. 

29. Moreover, even if Exhibits 6, 7 and 8 could be authenticated, the 

statements contained in those exhibits regarding Mr. Moquin's alleged mental disorder 

and condition, are inadmissible lay opinion about bipolar disorder and would still be 

inadmissible hearsay, as they were apparently authored by Mr. Moquin's wife, and 

Plaintiffs are offering them to prove that Mr. Moquin suffers from bipolar disorder and his 

life was in "shambles." 
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30. A number of Reply Exhibits and discussed in Reply Willard Declaration 

also contain inadmissible hearsay. 

31. All of the texts and emails offered by Plaintiffs and authored by Mr. Moquin 

or Mr. O'Mara constitute inadmissible hearsay under NRS 51.035 and 51.065. 

32. Specifically, Exhibit 2 and 3 to the Reply, the text messages authored by 

Mr. Moquin in Exhibit 4, the text messages authored by Mr. Moquin in Exhibit 7, the 

email authored by Mr. Moquin in Exhibit 8, and the emails authored by Mr. Moquin in 

Exhibit 10 are therefore disregarded as inadmissible hearsay. 

33. Exhibits attached to the Reply also contain communications occurring 

11 after this Court issued its Order Granting Motion to Strike and its Order Granting 

12 Sanctions. 

13 
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34. All of statements in the Reply Willard Declaration set forth after Paragraph 

37 detail events and communications from late January, 2018 through late May, 2018, 

all of which occurred after this Court issued its Order Granting Motion to Strike, Order 

Granting Sanctions, and Sanctions Order. Willard Declaration ffll 37 -67. 

35. Exhibits 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, and 10 to the Reply contain only communications 

and descriptions of events that occurred after this Court issued its Order Granting 

Motion to Strike, Order Granting Sanctions, and Sanctions Order. 

36. Logically, relevant events asserted to support Plaintiffs' argument of 

excusable neglect must have necessarily occurred prior to the entry of the orders 

Plaintiffs seek to set aside. 

37. Statements in the Reply Willard Declaration after Paragraph 37 and 

Exhibits 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, and10 to the Reply are not relevant to this Court's determination of 
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whether Plaintiffs have met their burden of proving excusable neglect under NRCP 

60(b). 

38. Competent and substantial evidence has not been presented to establish 

Rule 60(b) Relief. 

Notwithstanding Plaintiff's Lack of Admissible Evidence, 
Plaintiffs Fail to Meet their Burden under Rule 60(b) to Set 
Aside the Sanctions Order and Order Granting Motion to Strike. 

39. Under Nevada law, '"clients must be held accountable for the acts and 

omissions of their attorneys."' Huckabay Props. v. NC Auto Parts, 130 Nev. 196, 204, 

322 P.3d 429, 433 (2014) (citing Pioneer Inv. Servs. Co. v. Brunswick Assocs. Ltd. 

P'ship, 507 U.S. 380, 396-97, 113 S.Ct. 1489, 123 L.Ed.2d 74 (1993)). The client 

'"voluntarily chose this attorney as his representative in the action, and he cannot now 

avoid the consequences of the acts of omissions of this freely selected agent."' 

Huckabay Props., 130 Nev. at 204, 322 P.3d at 433 (citing Link v. Wabash R.R. Co., 

370 U.S. 626, 633-34, 82 S.Ct. 1386, 8 L.Ed.2d 734 (1962) (rejecting the argument that 

petitioner's claim should not have been dismissed based on counsel's unexcused 

conduct because petitioner voluntarily chose his attorney). 

40. In Huckabay Props., the Nevada Supreme Court dismissed an appeal 

20 where appellant's counsel failed to file an opening brief following two granted 

21 

22 

23 

extensions and a court order granting appellants a final extension. Huckabay Props., 

130 Nev. 209, 322 P.3d at 437. In Huckabay Props., the appellant was represented by 

24 II 

25 II 

26 II 
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two attorneys. In dismissing the appeal, and applicable to civil litigation at the trial court 

level here, the Court held: 

Nevada's jurisprudence expresses a policy preference for merits-based 
resolution of appeals, and our appellate procedure rules embody this 
policy, among others, litigants should not read the rules or any of this 
court's decisions as endorsing noncompliance with court rules and 
directives, as to do so risks forfeiting appellate relief. In these appeals, 
appellants failed to timely file the opening brief and appendix after having 
been warned that failure to do so could result in the appeals' dismissals. 
Appellants actually had two attorneys who received copies of this court's 
notices and orders regarding the briefing deadline, but they nevertheless 
failed to comply with briefing deadlines and court rules and orders ... and 
an appeal may be dismissed for failure to comply with court rules and 
orders and still be consistent with the court's preference for deciding cases 
on their merits, as that policy must be balanced against other policies, 
including the public's interest in an expeditious appellate process, the 
parties' interests in bringing litigation to a final and stable judgment, 
prejudice to the opposing side, and judicial administration considerations, 
such as case and docket management. As for declining to dismiss the 
appeal because the dilatory conduct was occasioned by counsel, and not 
the client, that reasoning does not comport with general agency principles, 
under which a client is bound by its civil attorney's actions or inactions. 

Huckabay Props. v. NC Auto Parts, 130 Nev. at 209, 322 P.3d at 437. 

41. In Huckabay Props., however, the court recognized exceptional 

circumstances providing two possible exceptions "to the general agency rule that the 

'sins' of the lawyer are visited upon his client where the lawyer's addictive disorder and 

abandonment of his legal practice or criminal conduct justified relief for the victimized 

client." Id. at 204 n.4, 322 P.3d at 434 n.4 (citing Passarelli, 102 Nev. at 286). Notably, 

these exceptions noted by the court in Huckabay Props. are not present here, as the 

facts of Pasarelli are readily distinguishable. 

42. First, in Passarelli, the record included evidence the attorney suffered from 

a substance abuse disorder that resulted in missed office days and appointments and 

an inability to function. Passarelli, 102 Nev. at 285. Second, the attorney voluntarily 
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closed his law practice. Id. Third, the attorney was placed on disability inactive status 

by the Nevada Bar. Id. Finally, the client in Passarelli had only one attorney. Id. 

43. None of these facts are present in this case. As concluded, supra, no 

competent, reliable and admissible evidence of Mr. Moquin's claimed mental disorder is 

before this Court. Further, there is no evidence of missed meetings or absences from 

office due to the claimed conditions. There is no evidence that Mr. Moquin closed his 

law practice. 

44. Mr. Moquin is on active status with the California Bar. Opposition to Rule 

60(b) Motion, Ex. 5; Attorney Search, The State Bar of California, 

http://members.calbar.ca.gov/fallLicenseeSearch (last visited Nov. 30, 2018). 

45. Pursuant to NRS 47.150, the Court may take judicial notice, whether 

requested or not. A fact subject to judicial notice must be either (1) generally known 

within the territorial jurisdiction of the trial court; or (2) capable of accurate and ready 

determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot be reasonably questioned. 

NRS 47.130. It follows that the State Bar of California provides accurate information 

regarding licensing of attorneys which cannot be reasonably questioned. The Court 

takes judicial notice of Mr. Moquin's active status. 

46. Applied here, the Huckabay Props./Passarelli analysis compels denial of 

the Rule 60(b) Motion. The standard for "excusable neglect" based on activities of a 

party's attorney requires the attorney be completely unable to respond or appear in the 

proceedings. See Passarelli, 102 Nev. at 285 (court found excusable neglect where 

attorney failed to attend trial due to psychiatric disorder which caused him to shut down 

his practice and was placed on disability inactive status by the State Bar of Nevada); 

see also Cicerchia v. Cicerchia, 77 Nev. 158, 160-61, 360 P.2d 839,841 (1961) (court 
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found excusable neglect where respondent lived out of state and suffered a nervous 

breakdown shortly after retaining out of state counsel, who was unaware and 

uninformed of the time to appear). 

47. Here, Plaintiffs' attorneys did not completely abandon the case. Rather, 

the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure, this Court's express orders, and Defendants' 

requests for damages computations and expert disclosures were ignored. Further, this 

Court granted, upon was also ignored. 

48. Plaintiffs attempt to excuse this conduct in their Rule 60(b) Motion by 

claiming Mr. Moquin had suffered a complete mental breakdown and his personal life 

was "in shambles." In addition, to the preclusion of evidence discussed, supra, the 

evidence is vague at best regarding these assertions and vague regarding if, and when, 

Mr. Moquin's alleged disorder impaired him and are vague in asserting when any of the 

alleged events took place. Plaintiffs do attach additional exhibits to their Reply that offer 

some information on timing but are inadequate for the Court's determination. 

49. Specifically, Exhibit 2 to the Reply appears to be a text string between Mr. 

Willard and Mr. Moquin from December 2, 2017 through December 6, 2017, in which 

Mr. Willard inquires about the status of Plaintiffs' filing in response to the Motion for 

Sanctions. Reply, Ex. 2. The text messages reflect Mr. Willard was aware of the initial 

deadline, December 4, 2017, for Plaintiffs to respond to the Motion for Sanctions (based 

on the November 15, 2017 filing date and electronic service). 

50. Defendants agreed to extensions through 3:00 pm on December 6, 2017 

for Plaintiffs to file their oppositions. 

51. The Court granted an additional extension through December 18, 2018. 
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52. Plaintiffs had knowledge of the initial filing deadline. They were aware no 

opposition papers were filed. Mr. Willard continued to communicate with both Mr. 

Moquin and Mr. O'Mara from December 11 until December 25, 2017 regarding the 

delinquent filings (Reply, Ex. 3, 4), well after this Court's final filing deadline of 

December 18, 2017. Sanctions Order,T 95. 

53. Despite knowing no oppositions had been filed, neither Mr. Willard 

(through Mr. O'Mara), Mr. Moquin, nor Mr. O'Mara contacted Defendants' counsel or 

this Court to address the status of this case. Sanctions Order,T 98. 

54. Plaintiffs did nothing to apprise this Court of any issues until they filed the 

Rule 60(b) Motion. 

55. Plaintiffs started looking for attorneys who might be able to help. Reply 

Willard Declaration ,I 36. Plaintiffs instead provided personal financial assistance to Mr. 

Moquin and did not terminate his services. WD ,I 71; RWD ,I 39. 

56. Plaintiffs knew timely oppositions were not filed. 

57. Plaintiffs chose to retain Mr. Moquin and did not terminate his 

representation, even after becoming aware that he did not file a timely response to the 

Motion for Sanctions. Plaintiffs cannot now avoid the consequences of the acts of 

omissions of their freely selected agent. 

58. Plaintiffs voluntarily chose to stop seeking new counsel to assist and 

chose to continue to rely on Mr. Moquin solely for financial reasons. Willard Declaration 

,T 81. 

59. Plaintiffs' multiple instances of non-compliance, including the Plaintiffs 

26 failure to provide a compliant damages disclosure in this action, is reflected in the court 

27 file for this proceeding, occurring well before Mr. Moquin's purported breakdown in 

28 

24 

A.App.4122

A.App.4122



1 

2 

3 

December, 2017 or January, 2018 asserted as preventing him from opposing the 

motions. 

60. Mr. O'Mara was counsel of record and did not report any issues related to 

4 Mr. Moquin to this Court until the filing of his Notice in March. Notice, 1. 
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61. The Court gave counsel notice of the seriousness of Plaintiffs' violations 

and expressed it was considering dismissal based on those violations. Opposition to 

Rule 60(b) Motion. Ex. 3, December 12, 2017 Transcript ("you need to know going into 

these oppositions, that I'm very seriously considering granting all of it ... I haven't 

decided it, but I need to see compelling opposition not to grant it."). Plaintiffs and their 

attorneys were given notice of the potential consequence of failing to file an opposition 

to the Sanctions Motion. 

62. Mr. Moquin did not abandon Plaintiffs. He appeared at status hearings, 

participated in depositions, filed motions and other papers, including a lengthy 

opposition to Defendants' motion for partial summary judgment. Mr. Moquin 

participated in oral arguments and filed two summary judgment motions with substantial 

supporting exhibits and detailed declarations. 

63. A party "cannot be relieved from a judgment [order] taken against him in 

consequence of the neglect, carelessness, forgetfulness, or inattention of his attorney," 

Cicerchia, 77 Nev. at 161. 

Plaintiffs Knew of Mr. Moquin's Alleged Condition and 
Alleged Non-responsiveness prior to the Sanctions Order and 
did Nothing and, therefore, Cannot Establish Excusable Neglect. 

64. In the Willard Declaration and Reply Willard Declaration, Mr. Willard 

26 admits he knew Mr. Moquin was having personal financial difficulties and that he 

27 borrowed money from friends and family to fund Mr. Moquin's personal expenses. WO 
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,m 63-65; RWD ,r 11-13. Mr. Willard also admits that he recommended a psychiatrist to 

Mr. Moquin and he again borrowed money from a friend to pay for Mr. Moquin's 

treatment. WO ,r,r 68-71; RWD ,r 11-13. Mr. Willard was aware of Mr. Moquin's alleged 

problems prior to this Court's Order Granting Motion to Strike and Sanctions Order, yet 

continued to allow Mr. Moquin to represent Plaintiffs. 

65. Mr. Willard was aware of Mr. Moquin's inaction which distinguishes this 

case from the cases upon which Plaintiffs rely in the Rule 60(b) Motion, where the 

parties were unaware of their attorneys' problems. See e.g., Passarelli, 102 Nev. at 286 

("Passarelli was effectually and unknowingly deprived of legal representation") 

(emphasis added); U.S. v. Cirami, 563 F.2d 26, 29-31 (2d Cir. 1977) (client discovered 

that attorney had a mental disorder that prevented him from opposing summary 

judgment more than two years later); Boehner v. Heise, 2009 WL 1360975 at *2 

(S.D.N.Y. 2009) (client did not learn case had been dismissed or and did not learn of 

attorney's mental condition until several months after dismissal). Here, Mr. Willard 

knew of the actions that supported the Sanctions Order. 

66. Mr. Willard admits he was informed by Mr. O'Mara prior to the dismissal of 

the Plaintiffs' claims that Mr. Moquin was not responsive. Plaintiffs failed to replace Mr. 

Moquin or take other action due to perceived financial reasons. Willard Declaration 1f81. 

Plaintiffs' knowledge and inaction vitiates excuse for neglect. 

67. The Rule 60(b) Motion cites authority for the proposition that even "where 

an attorney's mishandling of a movant's case stems from the attorney's mental illness," 

which might justify relief under Rule 60(b). However, "client diligence must still be 

shown." Cobos v. Adelphi Univ., 179 F.R.D. 381,388 (E.D.N.Y. 1998); see also Edward 

H. Bohlin Co., Inc. v. Banning Co., Inc., 6 F.3d 350, 357 (5th Cir. 1993) ("A party has a 
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duty of diligence to inquire about the status of a case .... "); Pryor v. U.S. Postal Service, 

769 F.2d 281, 287 (5th Cir. 1985) ("This Court has pointedly announced that a party has 

a duty of diligence to inquire about the status of a case .... "). 

68. Mr. Willard's claim that he had no choice but to continue working with Mr. 

Moquin due to financial issues lacks credibility as he admits he was able to borrow 

money to fund Mr. Moquin's personal life and medical treatment. It logically follows he 

had resources to retain new attorneys at the time. 

69. Plaintiffs have not established by substantial evidence that they exercise 

diligence to rectify representation in their case despite ample knowledge of Mr. 

Moquin's non-responsiveness. 

The Rule 60(b) Motion should be Denied because Two Attorneys 
Represented Plaintiffs had an Obligation to Ensure Compliance 
with the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure and this Court's Orders. 

70. Plaintiffs' Rule 60(b) Motion ignores the fact David O'Mara served as local 

counsel. In Nevada, the responsibilities of local counsel are clearly defined, and 

encompass active responsibility to represent the client and manage the case: 

(a) The Nevada attorney of record shall be responsible for and actively 
participate in the representation of a client in any proceeding that is 
subject to this rule. 
(b) The Nevada attorney of record shall be present at all motions, pre­
trials, or any matters in open court unless otherwise ordered by the court. 
(c) The Nevada attorney of record shall be responsible to the court ... for 
the administration of any proceeding that is subject to this rule and for 
compliance with all state and local rules of practice. It is the responsibility 
of Nevada counsel to ensure that the proceeding is tried and managed in 
accordance with all applicable Nevada procedural and ethical rules. 

SCR 42(14). Mr. O'Mara's representation, even if contractually limited, was governed 

by this rule. 
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1 71. Mr. O'Mara expressly "consent[ed] as Nevada Counsel of Record to the 

2 designation of Petitioner to associate in this cause pursuant to SCR 42" as part of his 

3 Motion to Associate Counsel. Motion to Associate Counsel. 
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72. Mr. O'Mara attended every hearing and court conference in this case. 

And, among other things, Mr. O'Mara signed the Verified Complaint and the First 

Amended Verified Complaint. Complaint; FAG. 

73. WDCR 23(1) provides: 

Counsel who has appeared for any party shall represent that party 
in the case and shall be recognized by the court and by all parties as 
having control of the client's case, until counsel withdraws, another 
attorney is substituted, or until counsel is discharged by the client in 
writing, filed with the filing office, in accordance with SCR 46 and this rule. 

WDCR23. 

74. Mr. O'Mara was the sole signatory on Plaintiffs' deficient initial disclosures, 

(Opposition to Rule 60(b) Motion, Ex. 6), the uncured deficiencies of which.were a basis 

for sanction of dismissal. Sanctions Order. 

75. Mr. O'Mara also signed and filed the Brief Extension Request with 

this Court representing, 

Counsel has been diligently working for weeks to respond to Defendant's 
serial motions, which include seeking dismissal of Plaintiffs' case. With the 
full intention of submitting said responses, Counsel for Plaintiffs 
encountered unforeseen computer issues .... Counsel for Plaintiffs is 
confident that with a one-day extension they will be able to recreate and 
submit the oppositions to Defendants' three motions. 

Brief Extension Request. 

76. Mr. O'Mara's involvement precludes a conclusion of excusable neglect 

here. 
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The Sanctions Orderwas Sufficient under Nevada Law 

77. Plaintiffs assert that the Sanctions Order was insufficient under Young v. 

Johnny Ribeiro, 106 Nev. 88, 93, 787 P.2d 777, 780 (1990) because the Sanctions 

Order did not consider "whether sanctions unfairly operate to penalize a party for the 

misconduct of his or her attorney." Rule 60(b) Motion at 12. However, consideration of 

this factor is discretionary, not mandatory. See Young v. Johnny Ribeiro, 106 Nev. at 93 

("The factors a court may properly consider include ... whether sanctions unfairly 

operate to penalize a party for the misconduct of his or her attorney") (emphasis 

supplied). 

78. The Court concludes factors enumerated in Young v. Johnny Ribeiro 

Bldg., Inc. were met by the Sanctions Order. Specifically, the Nevada Supreme Court 

held where a court issues an order of dismissal with prejudice as a discovery sanction a 

court may consider, among others, the degree of willfulness of the offending party, the 

extent to which the non-offending party would be prejudiced by a lesser sanction, the 

severity of the sanction of dismissal relative to the severity of the discovery abuse, and 

the feasibility and fairness of alternative, less severe sanctions. Young v. Johnny 

Ribeiro Bldg., Inc., 106 Nev. at 93. The factors are not mandatory so long as the Court 

supports the order with "an express, careful and preferably written explanation of the 

court's analysis of the pertinent factors." Id. 

79. While each suggested factor discussion in the Sanctions Order was not 

labeled by factor, the Court addressed the factors it deemed appropriate. 

80. In light of the circumstances in this case, the dismissal of Plaintiffs' claims 

did not unfairly penalize Plaintiffs based on the factors analyzed in the Sanctions Order. 

80. 
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81. Plaintiffs assert this Court must address the additional factors set forth in 

Yochum v. Davis, 98 Nev. 484,486,653 P.2d 1215, 1216 (1982). Yochum involves 

relief from a default judgment and not an order, as here, where judgment has not been 

entered. Yochum does not preclude denial of the motion. 

The Rule 60(bJ Motion should be Denied. 

82. After weighing the credibility and admissibility of the evidence provided in 

support of the Rule 60(b) Motion, substantial evidence has not been presented to 

establish excusable neglect. 

83. Plaintiffs have failed to meet their burden of proving, by a preponderance 

of the evidence, excusable neglect so as to justify relief under NRCP 60(b). 

ORDER 

Based upon the foregoing, Plaintiffs' Rule 60(b) Motion is DENIED, in its entirety. 

DATED this ..__J(-rf-- day of November, 2018. 
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RENO, NEVADA -- 8/17/15 --  11:09 A.M. 

-o0o- 

THE COURT:  Good morning.  Please be

seated.  This is the time set for a status hearing

for 11:00 a.m. on August 17th, 2015, in Case No.

CV14-01712, Larry J. Willard, et al v.

Berry-Hinckley Industries and Jerry Herbst, et al.

And in addition to the underlying claims, there are

also counterclaims asserted in this matter.

Would you go ahead and state your

appearances for me, please.

MR. IRVINE:  Yes.  Good morning, your

Honor.  Brian Irvine from Dickinson, Wright on

behalf of Defendants and Counter Plaintiffs.

MR. O'MARA:  Good morning, your Honor.

David O'Mara with the O'Mara Law Firm on behalf of

Plaintiffs, acting as local counsel for Brian Moquin

on the telephone.

THE COURT:  Right.  

Mr. Moquin, would you like to state your

appearance.

MR. MOQUIN:  Yes.  Good morning, your

Honor.  Brian Moquin appearing for Plaintiffs.

THE COURT:  All right.  So, I want to
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clarify a couple things for the record first.  And I

wanted to tell you that I have requested that

Commissioner Wes Ayres be present in court today and

be totally apprised of this matter going forward as

well as today.

Now, I set this status hearing because we

were -- several motions have been coming before the

Court.  I had a concern regarding the lack of

oppositions but -- and I'm going to ask you, Mr.

Irvine, to feel free to correct me on anything that

I am misstating.

But we're here on Defendant's Second Motion

to Compel Discovery Responses as well as the motion

-- there's an error in the title, but Motion for

Contempt Pursuant to NRCP 45(e) and Motion for

Sanctions Against Plaintiff's Counsel pursuant to

NRCP 37, correct?

MR. IRVINE:  Yes, your Honor.  And I would

say that the second motion to compel that we have on

file actually relates back to the first motion.

THE COURT:  Right.

MR. IRVINE:  Same set of written discovery,

but otherwise you stated that perfectly.

THE COURT:  Okay.
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MR. O'MARA:  The one for contempt is also

in regards to a subpoena to a third party, not to

the parties in this case.

THE COURT:  Correct.

MR. IRVINE:  And, your Honor, just to

clarify, on the motion for contempt and for

sanctions, we addressed this in a footnote in our

request for this status conference.  But we did not

submit that motion for decision after you signed the

order shortening time because we did get a response

from that third party --

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. IRVINE:  -- so that motion is moot.

THE COURT:  The motion for the settlement

has not been submitted.

MR. IRVINE:  Yes, and it's now moot.

THE COURT:  Okay.  That's what I wanted to

clarify for the record because it was pending and I

was greatly concerned that such a motion had not

been opposed.  

And let me tell you what we're going to do

today.  My tentative decision on the motion to

compel, second motion, is to grant it.  There is no

opposition in the file.  I've read everything
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thoroughly.  I'm not closing the door, if you want

to present any argument but, obviously, you're

somewhat behind the eight ball because there's no

response to the Court, although there was a

deadline.

That being said, in addition, I believe --

now, with regard to -- I moved my outline.  Hold on.

With regard to the motion to compel, here's where I

have some concerns from my point of view, that this

action is more than a year old.  And here we are, a

jury trial is approaching quickly in January and

you're getting into some very key discovery that

you're going to want to conduct including your

experts' depositions.

And there's just not a lot of room to

monkey around with production.  I mean, it needs to

be done and it needs to be -- the plaintiff

certainly decided to file the action and so

certainly should be in a position to provide all

documents and full answers.

Now, going forward there's a couple things

that we are going to do.  I understand that you've

requested fees and costs and they may be warranted.

But on the other hand, it seems to me that when
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we're under this type of time crunch that I also

want to ensure that there's available judicial

oversight to try to preclude -- to enhance getting

the information produced without the necessity of

these types of motions, which I am sure everybody's

preference is.

And, therefore, from here on out

Commissioner Ayres is going to handle the discovery.

He will be setting incremental status hearings so

that you're checking in as these critical dates come

up.  He will -- any motions filed regarding

discovery will be via recommendation and then to me.

But one of the things that I want to make

sure I'm wholeheartedly understanding from my own

practice is that as you get into the nuances of

responses to interrogatories and whether or not they

were complete answers or whether or not there's full

production, I think it's very helpful to have the

discovery commissioner there on a moment's notice to

say -- and to really go through and sift out yes,

this is complete, no, that isn't.

So, that's my intent going forward.  He and

I have discussed that he will have -- it's a

proactive management that we're going to undertake
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now and that is that he will have hearings that on

an incremental basis as he decides.  You know, I

thought, perhaps, every two weeks, maybe every

month.  But that does not preclude anyone from

making their objections timely, as I anticipate

there's going to be more discovery or filing

appropriate motions.  But I'm hoping that having him

available on an incremental basis here on out will

allow you to resolve some things before you have to

get to the motion stage.

Everyone understand that?

MR. O'MARA:  Yes, your Honor.

MR. IRVINE:  Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT:  Now, I'm assuming that Mr.

Moquin is responsible for the discovery responses

primarily, not your offices, correct?

MR. O'MARA:  That's correct, your Honor.

Mr. Moquin -- we're here in the local counsel aspect

of this so he's been doing all the discovery.

THE COURT:  All right.  So, Mr. Moquin, did

you hear all of that, what I just stated.

MR. MOQUIN:  Yes, I did.

THE COURT:  I was talking away to Mr.

O'Mara, not meaning to not look at the phone.  I was
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making eye contact with Mr. O'Mara.

MR. MOQUIN:  No.  I heard perfectly.

THE COURT:  Okay.  So, I'm correct that you

have not filed an opposition to the defendant's

Second Motion to Compel Discovery Responses,

correct?

MR. MOQUIN:  That is correct, for two

reasons.  One, I take full responsibility for the

fact that they were overdue.  I never charge my

clients or pass on this kind of thing when it's my

-- you know, it's actually my fault.

There are things in that motion which I

disagree with but, you know, on the whole,

unfortunately, this has been two and a half, almost

three months of back-to-back trials plus

unexpectedly having to move and it's just been an

overwhelmingly, you know -- I've been sleeping every

other day, quite literally.

And, you know, so I have -- I'm a solo

practitioner.  I have no assistants.  I'm looking to

hire assistants.  I've been interviewing, in fact,

other counsel to come onboard to assist here.  But,

you know, occasionally tsunamis like this hit me

and, unfortunately, it's happened in this case with
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respect to discovery.

However, I just got out of a trial just an

hour ago, which I was tied up with for the past

week.  And from here on out my schedule is fairly

open until November.  So, I don't anticipate there

being these kinds of issues moving forward but I do

appreciate the oversight and I defer to the wisdom

of the Court.

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.  And I

understand that law firms have considerable

workloads but, nonetheless, you belabored it more

because you chose to file the lawsuit, so, in filing

that lawsuit there is, obviously, an obligation on

your part to diligently pursue it.  

And it's unfortunate that we are at a time

when there's a motion to compel.  I am granting it.

It provides -- and a proposed order was provided to

me.  That order states, "The Court" -- since you're

on the phone I'll read it to you.  "The Court having

reviewed Defendant's Second Motion to Compel

Discovery Response for the defendant's second set of

requests for discovery filed on August 13th, good

cause appearing it is hereby ordered Plaintiff shall

have to and including" -- now, this said "Tuesday
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August 18th," and I am going to change that to

"Wednesday, August 19th," since we are having this

hearing today.  I'm going to give you two days to

produce the supplemental responses.

I do want to make clear to you that the

Court will entertain awards of fees and costs in

this case because, unfortunately, due to the history

it appears to me that many good-faith attempts were

made to get responses and including -- I'm not sure

that I've ever read in a motion that "we regret to

file this motion," and so I don't think it was the

defendant's first choice to go down this road, but,

nonetheless, it does appear that it was a course of

last resort.

So, I'm telling you in the -- I believe

they requested fees and costs with regard to the

Second Motion to Compel Discovery Responses.  They

did not provide an affidavit that included fees and

costs and I will leave it up to the defendants as to

whether or not they want to make a motion on fees

and costs.  I think, certainly, my interpretation

was simply you want the discovery and that that was

at the forefront, and if you supplement, the Court

will consider that and, actually, Mr. Ayres will
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consider it first.  So I have signed this order.

I do want to indicate to all parties going

forward it's a preference of this Court that when

you do provide -- and I welcome proposed orders from

both sides at any and all times.  But that you have

a cover sheet that says "Proposed order" but then

you have the actual sheet that says "Order" behind

it.

So, I think we've completed -- I know this

is somewhat short and my reading and preparation and

your preparation was longer, so I don't want to

foreclose any other matters you'd like to discuss

with the Court today.

MR. IRVINE:  Well, your Honor, on the order

that you just referred to, we have several important

depositions coming up kind of back to back to back.

We have one Thursday of Mr. Wooley, Friday of Mr.

Willard and then we go down to San Jose for another

deposition Tuesday of next week.

So, would it be possible for us, in order

for us to more adequately prepare for the

depositions, to have that be at least Wednesday by

noon or so so that we could have the --

THE COURT:  That's what it is.
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MR. IRVINE:  Okay.  Wonderful.  And then I

understand your Honor's ruling that things will flow

through Mr. Ayres now.  I'm comfortable with that.

I appreciate that.

But while we're here, I have another motion

to compel unfiled sitting in front of me and I don't

want to file it.  I just want, again, to get the

discovery.  We have a second set of written

discovery that's out.  The responses -- and that was

a full request for admissions, interrogatories,

requests for production to each of the plaintiffs,

so there's six documents.

THE COURT:  When did you serve it?

MR. IRVINE:  I'm not sure when the service

date was.  I know that it was due on August 6th,

the responses were, and no responses were filed on

-- served on us August 6th.

We talked to Mr. Moquin several times about

that and he promised responses.  We did get one

response to a request for admission on Friday and

one response to an interrogatory on Friday, but the

other four documents are outstanding.

I really don't want to file another motion

or trouble you with another motion.  I just want the
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discovery.  We really -- this is carefully crafted

stuff.  You know, they're asking for damages related

to tax liabilities.  We don't have the tax returns

that we can ask the witnesses about.  This is pretty

basic stuff that we really feel should have been

produced pursuant to 16.1, but we're trying to get

it now so we don't have to take depositions twice or

hold them open, all that stuff that we like to

avoid.

So, I'm not trying to short-circuit any

argument on a motion to compel.  But it's not like

we're fighting about whether this will be produced,

but it just hasn't come our way.  We haven't got it

yet.

THE COURT:  I can't rule on something

that's not been submitted --

MR. IRVINE:  I understand.

THE COURT:  -- without the other side

having adequate notice.  However, I will issue a

general admonishment that the delays have to stop

and that sanctions will be considered going forward.

And Commissioner Ayres is aware that this is -- the

delays in this case have been extraordinary and they

are reaching potentially prejudicial.
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And I would hope that the -- I'm

admonishing the plaintiff that there are no more

excuses for delays, that full and complete discovery

needs to be responded to and provided.  And it has

been with my predecessor and also it is my position

that, if you do not produce it, you can't use it.

So, the risk is that, if you have a claim

on which you may be basing information, for example,

tax returns, you don't produce it, you're not going

to be able to use it at trial to support your

claims.

So, I am providing the plaintiff with an

admonishment that any recommendations regarding --

that Commissioner Ayres may make regarding

sanctions, the Court will consider.  Just produce

the documents and produce adequate responses or

there will be consequences.

I just don't feel comfortable entering

anything on something that hasn't been filed with

the court.  And I do want to indicate that to you as

well, Mr. Moquin, and I do want to -- that reminded

me of something I wanted to address.

Mr. Moquin did contact my assistant and we

were following up on whether there was any
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oppositions filed.  And he wanted to file --

basically, send me an email addressing the points in

the motion and my assistant indicated that was just

not proper and that I would not consider it.  But I

thought it was a channel for ex parte and it was

unfair, so I want to tell everyone on the record

that.

MR. IRVINE:  Thank you, your Honor.

MR. O'MARA:  Your Honor, just as a

suggestion, we're here and we have Mr. Moquin on the

phone and we have Commissioner Ayres that will be

able to help us.  I understand you're busy and

you're going to pass this off to Commissioner Ayres,

who we all know is highly capable of helping us in

all avenues of this discovery -- and maybe we should

have even tried to contact him a little bit before

today, so we're happy that's going to happen.

But why don't we just keep this hearing

going with Mr. Ayres and we can kind of hash out

this issue that Mr. Irvine has brought in as to when

these -- I know they're frustrated and I know that

there's been some problems upon Mr. Moquin with

having to move and things of that nature and,

hopefully, we can get back on track.
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If we can maybe have ten minutes of

Commissioner Ayres' time, we may be able to

alleviate our concerns on a formal or informal basis

with everybody here.

THE COURT:  So, I think that's a very great

proposal.  Thank you.

So, what I will do is I'm going to close

the hearing that's before the court.  And I do know

that -- because I contacted Mr. Ayres last week --

that he has reviewed a lot of materials so he's

prepared.  I don't want to put him on the spot, but

I'm sure we can print off anything else that he

needs.  This portion has been reported, so if you

don't need the other portion, we can terminate the

court reporting.

From my perspective I will be in recess and

you can commence.  I'll go ahead and leave these

documents up here, Commissioner, in case you want

them.  You're welcome to sit at the table or at the

bench, whatever you prefer.  And the order is here

and I will hand it to my clerk to file.

(Whereupon, proceedings were 

concluded at 11:27 a.m.) 

-o0o- 
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STATE OF NEVADA ) 

) ss. 

COUNTY OF WASHOE ) 

 

     I, CHRISTINA MARIE AMUNDSON, a Certified Court 

Reporter in and for the states of Nevada and 

California, do hereby certify: 

     That I was personally present for the purpose 

of acting as Certified Court Reporter in the matter 

entitled herein;  

     That said transcript which appears hereinbefore 

was taken in verbatim stenotype notes by me and 

thereafter transcribed into typewriting as herein 

appears to the best of my knowledge, skill, and 

ability and is a true record thereof. 

 

DATED:  At Reno, Nevada, this 28th day of May 2019. 

 

 /S/Christina Marie Amundson, CCR #641 

       Christina Marie Amundson, CCR #641 
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